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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EM
MIDCO2 LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBLRS OF EM MIDCO2 LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of EM Midco2 Limited {‘the parent company’) and its subsidiaries {the ‘group’} for
the period ended 31 December 2022 which comprise the Consolidated statement of profit or loss, the Consoclidated
statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of
financial position, the Consclidated statement of cash flows and the related notes 1to 31, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, the Company statement of financial position, the Company statement of changes in equity and the
related notes a to m, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
appiied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards and as regards the parent
company financial statements, FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the group’s loss for the period then ended;

. the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adepted International Accounting
Standards;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {I5As (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibifities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financiat statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with thase requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinien.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in

the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt an the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period to 31 December 2024,

Our responsihilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.  However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a
guarantee as to the group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Other information

The other infermation comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our

auditor’s report therean. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annuat report.

Our apinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except tc the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or atherwise appears to be
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materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report
that fact.

Wa have nothing to raport in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financiai period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

+« the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal reguirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its envirenment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

s« the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
. we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for cur audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 70, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal contro!
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disciosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going cancern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liguidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur ohjectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud orerror, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) wiil always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the hasis of
these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capahble of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regufations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregufarities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment
by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the prevention
and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.
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Qur approach was as follows:

*  We obtained an understanding of the fegal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and determined
that the most significant are those that refate to the reporting framework (UK adopted International Accounting
Standards, FRS 101 and the Companies Act 2006) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. In addition, we conciuded that there are certain significant laws and regulations in relaticn
Lu hieallls did salely, etmployee matters, environmental matters and anti-bribery and corruption practices across the
various jurisdictions in which the Group operates,

*  We understood how the Group is compiying with those frameworks by making enquiries of management including those
responsible for legal and compliance procedures and the Company Secretary. We corroborated our enquiries through
our review of papers provided to the Board and Audit Committee, and consideration of the results of our audit
procedures acrass the Group.

e Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and
regulations. Qur procedures included a review of board minutes to identify any non-compliance with laws and
regulations; a review of the reporting to the Audit Committee on compliance with regulations; review of legal
documents; and enquiries of in-house and external general counsel, those charged with governance and management.
We involved our own legal experts on any more complex legal matters. If we identify instances of non-compliance, we
understand how management and those charged with governance have responded to them, including understanding
the remediation actions taken, through enquiry of management and inspection of relevant documentation and
correspondence. We also consider the appropriateness of the accounting for the impacts of any such non-comgliance,
and the adequacy of the financial statement disclosures.

. We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might
occur by: meeting with management from various parts of the business to understand where it considered there was
susceptibility to fraud; discussing the matter with the Audit Committee; reviewing documentation of the Group’s policies
and procedures including the Group Code of Conduct; and assessing whistleblowing incidences for those with a potential
financial reporting impact. We also considered performance targets and whether they might influence management to
manipulate revenue and/er adjusted EBITDA. As a result, we identified fraud risks relating to manipulation of accrued
income, classification of Separately Disclosed Items {SDIs} and possible management override of cantrals in relation to
accruals and provisions. We considered the controls that the Group has established to address the risks identified, or
that otherwise prevent, deter or detect fraud; and how senior management monitors those controls, We designed our
audit procedures to respond to the identified risks. For all components for which accrued revenue was in scope, our
procedures included challenging and understanding any judgments made about stage of completion of projects and
obtaining support for a sample of projects, as well as performing analytical review over the balances. In relation to SDls,
our procedures included obtaining third party support for the nature and amounts of a sample of SDis and assessing
whether the classification as SDIs is in line with the accounting policy and appropriate between categories and
challenging management where required in relation to the classification. For accruals and provisions, our procedures
included understanding the basis of estimates made, forming expectations and using analytical procedures to compare
actual variances and trends 1o our expectations, considering the historic accuracy of management’s estimates compared
to the eventual cash outflows and, where available, corroborating inputs to the provision calculations to third party
evidence.

A further description of our respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we da not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit
work, for thisizpuil, w Tur thie vplnions we Aave tormed.

DocuSigned by:

Emst & LIM“\\ LLy

9C51FB1ESS6F4B3.

Cameron Cartmell (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LI P, Statutary Auditor
London

28 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Period ended 31 December 2022

Ei Midco2 Limited

- . Adjusted Separately
Cont
-on fhuing .()peratlons Note Results! disclosed Total
(in US S million) .
items
Revenue from contracls with customers 607.1 - 607.1
Staff costs (277.0) {14.7) (291.7)
impairment of goodwill 12 - (544.9) (544.9)
Depreciation and Amortization 13,14, 24 (111.9; - (111.9)
Cther gperating expenses 4 (199.8} (70.5) {270.3)
Operating Profit / (Loss)* 4 18.4 (630.1) (611.7)
Finance income 9 50.3 - 50.3
Finance costs 10 (159.3) - {159.3)
Share of profit of associates and joint 08 - 0.8
ventures
Loss before tax (89.8) {630.1) (719.9)
Taxation 11 6.9 4.8 11.7
Loss for the period {82.9) (625.3) (708.2)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent (83.1) (625.3) (708.4)
Non-controlling interest 0.2 0.2
Loss for the period (82.9) (625.3) (708.2)

! Refer to note 4 for Adjusted EBITDA and analysis of separately disclosed items.
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EM Midco? Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Period ended 31 December 2022

Note USs $million
Loss for the period {708.2)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes 23 (1.3)
Deferred tax credit on items recognized in other comprehensive income 0.6
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (0.7)
Items that may he reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange translation difference of foreign operations 3.7
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 3.7
Total comprehensive loss for the period {705.2)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent {705.4)
Nen-cantrolling interest 0.2
Total comprehensive less for the period {705.2)
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EM MidcoZ Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022

Note Us $million
MNon-current assets
Goodwill 12 4,468.8
Other intangible assets 13 1,273.7
Property, plant and equipment 14 623.6
Right of use assets 24 165.9
Investment in associates and joint ventures 15 5.9
Derivative financial instruments 22 54.8
Other non-current assets 2.9
6,595.6
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 3184
Contract assets 50.8
Inventories 5.7
Income tax receivable 11 6.4
Cash and cash equivalents 17 134.3
515.6
Current liabilities
Trade payables {44.3)
Other payabies 18 {174.9}
Lease liabilities 24 {28.6}
Tax liabilities 11 (7.4)
Provisions 19 (12.2}
Deferred and contingent consideration 21 (9.3)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 {141.3)
(418.0}
Net current assets 97.6
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EM Midco? Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and barrowings 20 {2,083.2)
Retirement benefit obligation 23 (4.8)
Provisions 19 (58.2)
Lease liabilities 24 {131.7}
Deferred tax liabilities 11 {198.3)
Corporation tax 11 {2.4)
Contingent consideration 21 {13.8}
Other payables 18 (879.0}
(3,371.4}
Net Assets 3,321.8
Equity
Share capital 26 0.4
Share premium 26 4,013.2
Translation reserves 3.7
Share based payment reserve 1.9
Retained earnings (709.1}
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 3,310.1
Non-controlling interests 27 11.7
Total shareholders’ equity 3,321.8

The financial statements of EM Midco2 Limited (Company registration number 13856338} were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

Ruth Prior
Director
26 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Period ended 31 December 2022

EM Midco2 Limited

Note Us Smillion
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the period (708.2)
Adjustments for:
{Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and eguipment 4 (1.5}
Finance income 9 (0.4)
Finance costs 10 151.9
Income tax ¢credit recognized in profit and loss 11 {11.7}
Impairment of goodwill 12 544.9
Foreign currency translation adjustments 9 7.2
Amortization of other intangible assets 13 47.2
FV Loss / Gain - Derivatives 9 {49.9}
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 45.9
Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture 15 (0.8)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration re-measurement 21 (4.1)
Non cash movement in provision is 7.7
Depreciation of right of use assets 24 18.8
Share based payment 26 19

48.9

Maovements in working capital:
Increase in trade and other receivabies 121
Decrease in trade and other payables (139.1)
Cash generated from operations (78.1)
Income taxes paid {4.5)
Net cash flows from operating activities (82.6)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets 13 {6.7)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {53.1)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3.6
Cash outflow on deferred and contingent censideration 21 (241.6)
Payment for Investment in Associated Companies (0.5}
Dividend Received 15 2.3
Cash outflow on business acquisitions {net of cash acquired) 5 (3,623.5)
Net cash used in investing activities (3,919.5)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 20 (76.2}
Drawdown of borrowings 20 1,336.6
Repayment of borrowings 20 (1,763.4)
Payment for debt issue costs 20 {81.5)
Amounts received from group companies 774.4
Payment of principal portion of lease liakilities {19.4}
Proceeds from issue of shares 26 3,965.5
Dwvidends paid to non-controlling interests 27 {0.9)
Net cash generated by financing activities 4,135.1
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 133.0
Cash and cash eguivalents at the heginning of the period -
effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1.3
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17 134.3
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EM Midco? Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Statement ol

comphance aod presentation of financial statamant

The consolidated financial statements of EM Midco2 Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries {together referred to as
the “Group”), have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Reporting Accounting Standards in
confarmity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Group is a global provider of testing, inspection and certification services for a diverse range of materials and products.

The accounting policies under UK adapted Inteinalional Reporting Accounting Standards are included in the relevant notes
to the consalidated financial statements.

The Company was incerporated on the 18 of January 2022. This is the first period that financial statements are being
prepared for the Company, and therefare no comparative information is presented.

The Company and entities controiled by the Company (its subsidiaries, together the “Group”} are disclosed in Nete 31.

The Company is a private company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company’s registered office is The
Scalpel 18 Floor, 52 Lime Street, London, England, United Kingdam EC3M 7AF.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023.

2. Bass ofpregaqatior and sigrificant accounting polcies

The principal accounting policies apphed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are described below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

7 1 Basis of preparalion

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Presentation currency of the
financial statements is United States Dollars {US $} which is the Company’s functional currency. All information provided in
United States Doilars {US $) has been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goeds and services.

22 Bassof oo

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities contrelled by the
Company {its subsidizries) made up to 31 Decamber each year. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above,

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the penod are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control untii the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the nan-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. Non-controiling interests in
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group's equity therein.

The interests of non-contrelling shareholders that represent cwnership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets upon hiquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value. Subsequent to acguisition, the carrying amount of nen-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests” share of subsequent changes in eguity.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a foss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests’ share are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any dilference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the cwners
of the Company.

The Group has a number of joint arrangements where mare than half of the voting power is not owned. As the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with these companies and has the ahility to use its controlling
power over these companies to affect the amount of the company returns, these investments are accounted for as
subsidiaries.

The Group's subsidiaries and associated companies which are included in the consotidated financial statements are listed in
Note 31

2.3 Going coacern

A full description of the Group’s business activities, financial position, cash flows, liquidity position, committed facilities and
barrowing position, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance, is set out in the
Strategic Repart, including the Financial Review, and in note 22 to the financial statements.

The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
considered by the Directors on an annual basis. In addition, notes 20 and 22 include detalls of the Group's treasury activities,
long-term funding arrangements, financial instruments, and financial risk management activities.

During the period to 31 December 2022 the Group incurred a loss of US $708.2 million which is mainly driven by finance
costs of US $159.3 million and non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization of US $111.9 million and impairment
of goodwill of US $544.9 millicn. Management's key focus is the adjusted EBITDA for the period which was US $124.7 million.
The operating loss for the period was US $611.7 million.

The net currant asset position as of 31 December 2022 was US $97.6 million and overall nat debt (excluding deferred
financing fees) was US $2,302.8 million. Net cash used in operating activities was US $82.6 million with clasing cash of
Us $134.3 million.

As highlighted in note 22 to the Group financial statements, the Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements
from the cash flows generated by its trading activities and its available cash resources. These are supplemented when
required by additiocnal drawings under the Group's revolving credit faciiities and capex/acquisition facilities. On the
31 December 2022, the Group had credit facilities of US $400.0 milion, of which US $137 million had been drawn down
leaving US $263 million undrawn facility available. At the date of signing these accounts the undrawn facility available has
reduced to US 347.1 milfion as a resuit of a further drawdown of US $192.9 million from the capex/acquisition facilities. The
drawdown was made to fund acquisitions and future investments. The Group held cash of US $148.9 million as at the 30 july
2023,

The Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully, despite the current uncertain
economic outlook. The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
perfarmance, show that the Group would be able to operate within the level of its current committed facilities. As part of a
regular assessment of the Group’s working capital and financing position, the Directors have prepared a detailed bottom-up
trading budget and cash flow forecast for the period through 31 December 2024,
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In assessing the going concern status, the Directors have considered:

e (Globaf economic downturn impacting underlying end-markets

¢ Susceptibility to inflation and interest rate movements

s The status of the Group’s existing and future credit arrangements

+  Technological disruption due to simuiation and software potentially reducing traditional testing and/or outsourcing
of testing activities

. Difficulties in recruiting/retaining technical talent to support organic growth,

. Delivery of NTS synergies, and

s Overall margin pressure due to significant cost inflation, and the availability of mitigating actions including price
increases and managing capital expenditure

The Directors have considered the potential impacts of the canflict in Ukraine on our business, assessing possible supply
chain disruptions and evaluating risks ta future earnings. At this stage we do not anticipate a material impact to the
Group’s performance. However, It the Group is impacted, we are confident that mitigating actions and cost management
plans within management’s control could be imptemented to alleviate risk.

The going concern assessment takes into account the Group’s cash flow and avaitable undrawn credit facilities. Based on the
going concern assessment performed over the period to 31 December 2024, the Directers have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will continue in operation, settle its liabilities as they fall due, and remain compliant with banking facilities
and have adequate liquidity to trade. The going concern period is consistent with the bottom-up trading budget and cash
flow forecast.

Sensitivity analyses have been performed on the forecasts to consider the impact of severe, but piausible, reascnahle worst-
case scenarios on the headroom on cash and available credit facilities. These scenarios, which sensitized the forecasts for
the reduction in anticipated levels of underlying EBITDA and the associated increase in net debt. This scenario is the sustained
decline in Group performance due to a variety of macroeconomic issues including, but not limited teo, cost inflation and is
modelled on an 16% reduction in EBITDA in 2023 and 16% reduction to 31 December 2024.

Throughout this downside scenario, the Group continues to have significant liquidity headroom on its new debt
commitments and existing facilities and against the revelving credit facility covenants.

Further considerations were made to the financial and operational impact of plausible downside scenarios occurring
individually or in combination. These included the impacts of a further deterioration in the macre-economic environment,
underperformance in executing the Group’s strategy and failure to deliver operational improvements. Consideration was
also given to the plausibility of the occurrence of other individual events that could have a material impact on the Group’s
going concern status.

The Directors adopted the going concern basis of acgounting in preparing the financial statements.
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2.4 Naw and amended standards and intergratations

The Group has adopted all the new and revised UK adopted International Accounting Standards and interpretations that are
relevant to its operations and effective far accounting periods covered by the financial statements.

At the date of authorization of the financial statements, the following standards and interpretations that are potentially
relevant to the Group and which have not yet been appiied in these reported results were in issue but not yet effective {and
in same ¢ases had not yet been adopted by the UK Endorsement Board):

- Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current—
effective from periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendments to (AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors — effective from periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendments to IAS 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies - applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1
lanuary 2023

- Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - applicable
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendments ta 1AS 1.2: international Tax Reform Pillar Two Model Rules

The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become
effactive. It is not expected that the adoption of these standards and amendments will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Crganisation for Economic Co-operation and Development {OECD} Pillar Two changes noted above wiil be effective for
periads from 2024 onwards and will impact the Group effective tax rate. The expected impact of thesa rules will be modelled
in detail.

2.5 Ravenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognizes revenue from the rendering of materials and product gualification testing, inspection, certification,
calibration and services pursuant to written contracts with its customers. These services are recegnized through the output
method of revenue recognition as the performance obligations are satisfied over time. Revenue 1s measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided in the normal course of
husiness, net of VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue is reduced for estimated and agreed liquidated damages resulting from failure to meet the agreed service
performance levels set out in the contract. For short term contracts with single performance obligations, customers are billed
in accerdance with the contractual terms and revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenue from short-term contracts is generally recognized when the relevant service is completed, that is when the report
of findings or test/inspection certificate is issued. Short-term contracts are considered to be those that have a duration of
less than two months.

The Group recognizes revenue on long term contracts with multiple performance obligations as each performance obligation
is satisfied, with the corresponding amount being included in trade receivables if the customer has been invoiced and the
amount is unconditional, or as & contract asset, if billing has yet to be completed. Performance cbligations vary across
business lines and regions, and on a contract-by-contract basis. Long term contract durations vary from two months to
multipie years.

2.6 Business camb nations

The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is caleulated as the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
recognized within cperating expensas in the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or habilities refated to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and
measured in accordance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes and 1AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.
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Goodwili is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the ameunt of any non-contrelling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any} over the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transfarred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree {if any}, the excess is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of a contingent
consideration qualifying as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments
against goodwili. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

Subsequent accounting for changes in fair value of contingent consideration that do not gualify as measurement period
adjustments depend on how the contingent cansideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the acquired entity is remeasured
to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain ar loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the repoerting peried in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above}, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect
new information obtained abeut facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognized at that date.

27 Gooadwi and intanzibies
Goodwill

Goodwil! arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated imgairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Goodwill which has been allocated to a cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating unit is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of
the goodwill is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the ather assets of the unit pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal,

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumuiated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses, if applicable. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, if
necessary, any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their
fair value at the acyuisilion ddle, together with any related deterrad tax liability. Amortization is charged on a straight-line
basis to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful economic lives as follows:

Custorner relationships 5-20vyears
Technelogy 5- 10 years
Trade names 10 years
Software 1 -4 years

The internal costs directly attributable to the development of software and infrastructure projects are capitalized as "other
intangible assets” if the future economic beneafits to the Group are reasonably certain. The capitalized costs are amortized
an a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life of the asset.

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no further economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising fram derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the net carrying amount of the asset, are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
Jeracognized.

Cioud computing arrangements

In a cloud computing arrangement, the Group is granted a right to access software and other technology capabilities at a
third-party provider through the internet. These arrangements typically do not allow the Group to acguire, take possession
or control the underlying assets of the provider. Costs associated with cloud computing arrangements are generally expensed
as incurred because they generally do not meet software capitalization criteria.

Where costs incurred to configure or customize Cloud computing arrangements result in the creation of a resource which is
identifiable, and where the Group has the power to obtain the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying
resource and to restrict the access of othets to those benefits, such costs are recagnized as a separate intangible software
asset and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-hine basis. The amortization period is reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period and any changes are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Where costs incurred to configure or customise do not rasult in the recognition of an intangible software asset, then those
costs that provide the Group with a distinct service (in addition to the access) are recognised as expenses when the supplier
provides the services. When such costs incurred do not provide a distinct service, the costs are recognised as expenses over
the duration of the Cloud based arrangement.

The Group evaluates a cloud computing arrangement to determine if it provides a resource that the Group can control. The
Group determines that a software license intangible asset exists in a cloud computing arrangement when both of the
following are met at the inception of the arrangement:

e  The Group has the contractual right tc take possession of the software during the hosting period without significant
penalty. And

. It is feasible for the Group to run the software on its own hardware or contract with another party unrelated to the
supplier to host the software.

The Group capitalizes costs to migrate software from on-premise data centers to the pubfic cloud when the software is either
rebuilt specifically for the cloud or has been significantly optimized to run in a cloud environment.

2.8 Imparment of groperty, plant and eguipmoent and cther intana:ble assety

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impalrment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recaverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also aliocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are aliocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
censistent allocation basls can he identified.
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Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and other intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
iupairmenl gl least annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refiects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than it's carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recaverable amaunt, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statament of profit or loss.

2.9 Foreign currency trarslation

In preparing the Group’s financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Group’s presentational currency
(foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

. exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use,
which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment te interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings;

. exchange differences on transactions entered inte in order to hedge certain forefgn currency risks; and

. exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognized initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to the statement of profit or loss on
regayment of the moneatary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting paricd. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that peried, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and attributed to non-contrelling interests as appropriate.

On the disposal of a foreign operation {i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
invalving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a fareign operation, a disposal invelving loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a fareign operatien, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Group are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a fereign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in equity.

210 Fmancal instrumonts — denoatives

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The Group enters into derivative
financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group does naot apply hedge accounting.

Derivative financial instruments are recognizad initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value at each statement of financial position date.
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The gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value is recegnized immediately in the statement of profit or {ess.

A derivative with a positive fair value 1s recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognized as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realized or settied within 12 maonths. Other
derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

2,11 Finanoial haoi ties and eguity natruments
Class'fization as debt aor eguity

Debt and equity instruments are ¢lassified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Refer fo note 26.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liahilities, Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Finance costs of debt, including premiums payable on settlement and direct issue costs, are charged to the statement of
profit or foss on an accruals basis over the term of the instrument, using the effective interest method, where it is materially
different to the straight line method.

Giher financiat lizbiites
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other firancia! liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recoghized on an effective yield basis,

Urereceambon of finandal Laheit 23

The Group and the Company derecognize financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s and the Company's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in the statement of profit or foss.

2.12 Proparty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, piant and equipment is the purchase cost, together with any directly attributable costs. Costs include
professicnal fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the Group’s accounting pelicy.

Depreciationis provided on all tangible fixed assets other than land, at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less
estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expectad useful life, as follows:

Buildings 2-5%
Leasehold improvements Lower of useful ife or contractual lease term
Plant and equipment 6-33%

Assets under the course of construction are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for its intended use. Depreciation of these assets is determined by its asset category and commences
when the assets are completed and ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized ugon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
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plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognized in the statement ot profit or loss,

2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
chligation.

The best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period is
measured by considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, it's carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows when the
effect of the time value of money is material.

A restructuring provision is recognized when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for restructuring and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing
its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures
arising from the restructuring which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not
associated with the on-going activities of the Group.

When same or all the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is racognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the
receivable can be measurad reliably.

2 14 Lease gocounting

The Group holds leases primarily on land, buildings and motor vehicles used in the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the cammencement date of the contract for all leases conveying the
right to contro! the use of an identified asset for a period of time. The commencement date is the date on which a lessor
makes an underlying asset available for use by a lessee.

Ali leases where the Group is the lessee {except for low-value lease arrangements) are recognized in the statement of
financial position. A lease liability is recognized based on the present value of the future lease payments, and a cerresponding
right-of-use asset is recognized. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of
the asset. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of the lease liability.

The right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
. any lease payments made at or befare the commencement date, ess any lease incentives received; and,
. any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.

After the commencement date the right-of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairmeant losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use asset over the shorter of the useful life and the lease term, given as the
commencement date tc the end of the lease term. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. These include:

. fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; and
e variable lease payments that depend on a fixed rate, as at the commencement date.

The leases held by the Group are split into two categories: property and non-property. The Group leases various properties,
principally offices and laboratories, which have varying terms and renewal rights that are typical to the territery in which
they are located. Non-property includes all cther leases, such as motor vehicles, printers and other small office equipment.

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination opticns. The Group evaluates whether it is
reasonably certain whether or not to exercrise the option to renew or terminate the lease. Aftar the commencement date,
the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and
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affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or (o terminate {e.g., construction of significant leasehold
improvemaents or significant cuslumisdtion to the leased asset).

Variable lease payments not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they arise.

The lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the commencement of the lease contract or
modification. Generally, it is not possible to determine the interest rate implicit in the land and huilding leases. The
incremental borrowing rate is estimated taking account of the economic environment of the lease, the currency of the lease
and the lease term. The lease term determined by the Group comprises:

* non-cancellable period of lease contracts;
« periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
s periods coverad by an option to terminate the lease if the Group is reasonably certain not to exercise that option.

After the commencement date the Group measures the lease liability by:

*  increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
«  reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made; and
*  remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

The right-of-use asset and lease liabrlity balances are calcuiated with reference to the underlying functional currency and
then transiated to USD.

2 15 Employ2e bonefitnizas

wi

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution schemes where the Group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benetit scheme.

The Group operates several defined benefit plans in the UK, Sweden and Germany a!l of which require contributions to be
made to separately administered funds or insurance schemes. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans
are determined using actuarial valuations that are carried out at the end of each reporting period. Re-measurement of
actuarial gains and losses, and the return on scheme assets {excluding interest) are recognized immediately in the statement
of financial position with a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period which they occur. Re-
measurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service costs are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss in the period of scheme amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined beneafit costs are split into three categories:

. Current service cost, past service cost and gains and lasses on curtailments and settlements;
«  Netinterest expense cr incoeme; and
. Re-measurement

The current and past service costs are presented within operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past-service costs.

Net interest expanse or income is recognized within finance costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the deficit or
surplus in the Group’s defined benefit schemes. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the schemes or reductions in the future contributions to the
schemes.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related restructuring costs.
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2.168nmare based payment,

The hoiding company of the Group, EM Topco Limited, provides benefits to employees and Directors in the form of cash-
settled share-based payment transactions, whereby employees and Directors render services in exchange for amounts that
are based on valuation of EM Topco Limited shares.

The Group has no obligation to settle the transaction, and therefore accounts for the transaction as equity settled in line
with requirements of IFRS 2.

In valuation of share-hased payments, the fair value of the employee services rendered is determined by reference to the
fair value of the EM Topco shares, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. All share cptions are valued
using an option-pricing model {Black-5choles or Monte Carlo). This fair vaiue is charged to the income statement aver the
vesting period of the share-based payment scheme. The value of the charge is adjusted in the income statement over the
remainder of the vesting period to reflect expected and actual levels of options vesting, with the corresponding adjustments
made in equity.

2.17

[¥a)

hort term emoioyee benolits

The Group accrues for all shart-term accumulating compensated balances such as holiday entitlement earned but not taken
at the statement of financial position date.

2 18 Cash arnd cash aguivalonts

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand and demand deposits and cther short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to aninsignificant risk of change invalue.

2,18 Govornment geants

IAS 20 sets out the principle for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of government grants.
Government grants that are not related to assets are credited to the consolidated profit or loss statement as a deduction of
the related expenses. Government grants are recognized when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and all attached canditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as
income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

2 20 Related narbos

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if they have the ability, directly or indirectly to controf the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial or operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group is subject
to common centrel or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

2.21 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognized by the Group and the Company carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any
non-collectable or impaired amounts. The Group uses the IFRS 9 expected credit loss (“ECL") model to measure loss
allowances at an amount equal to their lifetime expected credit loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a iass allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established & provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-locking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

;
S

i

2.22 Tradz payat

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
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2.23 Borrowings

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,
including premiums on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of
the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

2.24 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates thal have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Ceferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consclidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
lizbilities are generally recegnized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all
deductible temparary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets aned
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabifities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
tempaorary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeabte future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax habilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to appiy in the year in which the liability is
settled or the asset realized, based an tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflect the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination,

2.25 Joint ventures and interest in associates

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties have joint contral of the arrangement and have rights to
the net assets of the sure. Joint centrel is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities requires consent of the parties sharing control.

An associate is an entity over which the group is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and cperating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control cver
those decisions.
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The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the nvesbnenl in a joint venture or associate is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the investment
is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture or associate since the acquisition
date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture or associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested
for impairment individually. The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the resuits of operations of the joint
venture or associate, Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s cther
comprehensive income. in addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the joint venture or
associate, the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.

Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture or associate are eliminated
to the extent of the interest in the joint venture or associate. The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of a joint
venture or associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss, where material.

226 Divclend income

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established

2 27 Contingant conaldaration

Contingent consideration arises when settlement of all or any part of the cost of a business combination is deferred and
becomes payable only when the acquiree meets certain financial performance criteria at a date pre-determined on the date
of acquisition. It is stated at fair value at the date of acquisition which is determined by discounting the amount due to
present value at that date. It is measured at fair value threugh profit and loss subsequent to acquisition. Where material,
interest is calculated on the fair value of non-interest-bearing deferred consideration at the discount rate and expensed
within interest payable and similar charges, At each statement of financia! position date, contingent consideration comprises
the remaining contingent consideration valued at acquisition plus any fair value remeasurements and interest calculated on
such amounts from acquisition to the statement of financial position date.

Any changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration is recognized in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of business combinations where the change in fair value occurs during the ‘measurement period’ (further details
are given in note 2.6).

2.25 Alternative performance measuras

In order to present the performance of the Group in a clear, consistent and comparable format, certain items are disclosed
separately in note 4. Separateiy disclosed Items are items which by their size and/or nature, in the opinion of the Directors,
should be excluded from the adjusted EBITDA to provide readers with a clear and consistent view of the business
performance of the Group and its operating units,

The Group believes that EBITDA before separately disclosed items (termed “"adjusted EBITDA"} is the most significant
indicator of operating performance and allows a better understanding of the underlying profitability of the Group. The Group
defines adjusted EBITDA as operating profit/{loss) before transaction, acquisition and other income and expense items that
are material by virtue of their size and/or nature, depreciation, amortization, gains/losses on sale of assets and share based
payments.

Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP measure, excludes the costs of restructuring activities and integration projects where
they represent fundamental changes in individual operations around the Group and reflect the refinement of our operational
structure. The costs associated with successful, active or aborted acquisitions and share based payment charges are excluded
from adjusted operating profit to provide useful information regarding the underlying performance of the Group’s
operations. Other costs include items that, in the Directors’ opinions, should be excluded from adjusted EBITDA. These are
mainly related to censultancy fees incurred on strategic projects and non-recurring tax expenses.

The Directors define separately disclosed items as those expense and income items which fall into one or both of the
following categories:

1. A transaction that results from a corporate activity that has neither a close relationship to our businesses’
operations nor any associated operational cash flows (for example, costs incurred in connectien with a refinancing
activity)
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2. A transaction that is so material in size and/or nature that it would obscure an understanding of underlying
cutcomes and trends in ravenues, costs or other components of perfoermance (for example, restructuring activities
and reversals of any provisions for the costs of restructuring)

Alternative performance measures are used as the primary measure of business performance within the Group and align
with the results shown in management accounts, with the key uses being:

1. Management and Board reviews of performance against expectations and over time, including assessments of sector
peilunndnue

2. Insupport of business decisions by the Board and by management, encempassing both strategic and aperational levels
of decision-making

3. Assessments of compliance with quarterly leverage test as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement; and

4. Widely recognized measure of performance and valuation by shareholders, lenders and stakeholders

The Group’s policies an separately disclosed items will be consistently applied over time, but they are not defined by IFRS
and, therefore, likely to differ from separately disclosed measures used by other companies.

=rments and key sources of estimation
¥

3. Criticst agcountin

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, described in note 2, the Directors are required to make judgments
{other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized and to make estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assurnptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to ke
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumpticns are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the year in which the estimate s revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

3.1 Critical accounting judgements

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations {which are dealt with separately below), that
the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in financial statements.

ajy Separately disclosed items

in order to present the performance of the Group in a clear, consistent and comparable format, certain items are disclosed
separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss. Separately disclosed ltems are items which by their size and/or
nature, in the opinion of the Directors, should be excluded from the adjusted EBITDA to provide readers with a clear and
consistent view of the business performance of the Group and its operating business units.

Further detail is provided in note 4.
cj Legal provisions

The Group is subject to litigation and other claims in the ordinary course of its business. Judgement is required in assessing
the likelihood of cash cutfiows arising as a result of such matters and the timing of any potential outflows. Management
bases its judgement on the circumstances relating to each specific claim or instance of litigation, internal and external legal
advice, knowledge of the industries and markets, prevailing commercial terms and legal precedent, and evaluation of
applicable insurance cover where appropriate. The process of making judgements in respect of these matters around the
timing of potential outflows of cash and the likelihcod of payment are complex. The Group's litigation and other claims are
reviewed, at @ minimum, on a guarterly basis by executive management. Further detail is provided in notes 28 and 31.

o) Deferred Tax on acguisition

The Group recognizes deferred tax on acquired Intangibles assets {other than goodwill}. The deferred tax is calculated
using the local tax rate for the relevant location of the intangible asset.

The consolidated opening balance sheet of Element Material Technelogy Group Limited included US$ 96.6 mitlion of
deferred tax asset recognised in the US on certain acquired intangibles, including goodwill. These intangibles have heen
calculated under US tax legislation on historic acquisitions of businesses made in the US. Management concluded that
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these US legacy intangibles are unrelated to the goodwill recognised on the acguisition of the Element Materials
Technology Group Limited by the Group. As a result, the deferred tax asset of USS 96.6 million remained recognized on the
opening balance sheet of Element Materials Technelogy Group timited.

3.2 Key sourees of estimation

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financia! year, are discussed below.

aiimparment of goodwalt

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently when there is an indication that the goodwill allocated to a
group of CGUs may be impaired. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use. The
value in use calculation requires estimation of future cash flows as well as the assumptions about growth rates expected to
arise from the group of cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

The fair value of group CGUs used for the purposes of goodwill impairment includes the estimated fair value of future bolt
on acquisiticns. The forecast is consistent with past acquisition activities of the legacy Element Group.

The Group performed sensitivity analysis to identify risk asscciated with goodwill impairment. Note 12 provides further
details of the key assumptions used for the impairment assessment.

b} Goodwill and otner intangibie assets

Acquired other intangible assets and goodwill represented US $1,273.6 million and US $4,468.8 million, respectively, in the
consolidated statement of financial position at Decemhber 31, 2022. Acquired other intangible assets and goodwill arise out
of business combinations. Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, which
requires to identify and attribute valuas to the intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair value as well as to
estimate their useful lives. These determinations involve significant estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow
projections, economic risk and weighted average cost of capital. The excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill {Note 5}.

At the statement of financial position date tax liabilities and assets are based on management’s best estimate of the future
amounts that will be settled. While the Group aims tc ensure that the estimates recorded are accurate, the actual amounts
could be different frem those expected.

The Group recognizes deferred income tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards to the
extent that it deems probable such assets will be recovered in the future. Further detail is provided in note 11.

¢} Dilapidation provision

Provisions for dilapidation liabilities are made when there is & present cbligation and where it is probable that expenditure
on restoration work will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the cost.

In estimating the dilapidation liability, Management uses their best estimate regarding cost of restering operating sites to
their original condition in accordance with the terms of the lease contracts where relevant. These estimates are reviewed
annuaily, and the amount expected to be paid on termination or expiry of the leased property is recegnized as a dilapidation
provision as at period end. There are significant uncertainties with regards to the timing and final amounts of any future
payments. These uncertainties can also result in the reversal of previously established provisions once final settlement is
reached with the third party. The timing of the cash outflows is expected to be over the next 1-15 years as leases expire.
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4. Adjusted EBITDA and separately disclased items

The Group believes that EBITDA before separately disclosed items (termed "adjusted EBITDA") is the most significant
indicator of operating performance and allows a better understanding of the underlying profitability of the Group. The Group
defines adjusted EBITDA as operating profit/(lass) before transaction, acquisition and other income and expense items that
are material by virtue of their size and/or nature, depreciation, amortization, gains/losses on sale of assets and share based
payments. Adjusted EBITDA for the peried is calculated below:

2022
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of profit or loss to non-statutory measures Note Us Smillion
Operating loss {611.7)
Add:
Depreciation and Amortisation 111.9
Separately disclosed items 630.1
Impairment of Goodwill 544.9
Costs related to acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited 49.0
Other acquisitions and new business set up costs 229
Strategic projects, restructuring and reorganisation of the Group 5.0
Systems Transfermation 55
Other 2.8
Less:
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment {1.5)
Fair value movement on contingent consideration re-measurement 21 {4.1)
Adjusted EBITDA {Alternative performance measure as defined in note 2.28} 124.7
Adjusted EBITDA margin 20.5%

Costs related to acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited

The acquisition of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited {note 5) in July 2022 incurred material, one-off buy-side
and sell-side directly attributable transaction fees. Costs incurred relate to external due diligence, transaction related
bonuses, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, professional and legal advisory fees which totaled $49.0
million.

Other acquisitions and new business set up costs

Element Materials Technology Group Limited successfully completed a number of business combinations (note 5) in the
period which resulted in directly attributable due diligence, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, and third
party legal and professicnal fees. Total costs related to the acquisition of Trialon Corporation, Fosta Pte Limited, Singapore
Test Private Limited, and National Technical systems were US $14.0 million. Furthermore, the Group has incurred integration
costs relating to current year acquisitions (US $3.5million}, to prior year acquisitions {US $3.4 million), and acquisitions not
completed yet (US 50.8 million).

tn addition to acquisiticn costs, Element Materials Technology Group Limited incurred set up costs relating to new strategic
business areas which have been treated as separately disclosed until they become fully operational. The Directors consider
a business to be fully operational when the locations or revenue stream are substantially accredited with the necessary
regulatory approvals. The Directors do not consider costs associated with the setting up of a new facility or entering a new
service line te be in the ordinary course of business and therefore these costs are presented as separately disclosed items.
Element Materials Technology Group Limited incurred a total of US $1.2 million set up costs in the period.

Strategic restructuring and reorganization of the Graup

Element Materials Technolegy Group Limited incurred US $5.0 million restructuring and reorganization costs in the period
due to right-sizing activities across non-core end markets of the business. The costs include severance payments in relation
to permanent reduction in headcount, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, associated legal and professional
fees incurred during the cansultation process, site closure costs and relocation expenses. Included within the reorganization
costs are the exit of non-core businesses.
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System transformation

Element Materials Technology Group Limited embarked on a transformational IT infrastructure project to implement ane
standardized ERP solution across the global organization. The associated implementation costs and migration costs of
existing data and platforms do not meet the criteria for capitalization {(note 2.7 — Cloud computing arrangements) and have
been recegnized in the consclidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Costs incurred in the period totaled US $5.5 million and relate to external consultancy costs, professional fees, project
management cosls and inlernal statt time ot those dedicated to the project.

Other

The Group recognized US $1.9 million of share-based payment charge {note 26) related to share-based payment transactions
during the financial period, included in cther separately disclosed items.

The Group incurred US $0.9 million of legal expenses which are considered material by virtue of their nature and based on
management’s assessment of the subject matter the Group considers such items are not in the ordinary course of business.
The costs represent external legal costs and internal staff time incurred in relation to providing support and input into a
multi-party regulatory matter, and other activities linked to this matter, which is one-off in nature.

5. Business Combinations

The primary strategic reasons for the following acquisitions and key benefits to the Group are set out on pages 49 to 51.

Element Materials Technology Group Limited

On 6 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Element Materials Technelegy Group Limited in the
United Kingdom. Element Materials Technology Group Limited is a global provider of testing, inspection, and certification
services.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited as at the date of
acquisition were:

Fair value recognized

in US $millicn S
on acquisition

Assets
Intangible assets 1,029.3
Property, plant and equipment 390.1
Right of Use Assets 145.5
Investments in associates and JVs 1.6
Other non-current assets 87
Trade and other receivables 237.9
Contract assets 42.0
Inventories 2.6
Cash and cash equivalents 68.0
Liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrewings (refinancing) (1,747.2)
interest bearing toans and borrewings (external loan) (975.0)
Lease liabilities (136.1)
Provisions (48.5)
Trade and other payables (304.1)
Deferred tax (149.6)
Tatal net assets/liabilities at fair value {1,434.8)
Non-controiling interest at proportionate share {12.4)
Goodwiil 4,719.0
Purchase consideration 3,271.8
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Goodwill of US $4,718.3 million represents intangible assets which do not qualify for recognition, including testing
capabililies end industry certifications / accreditations, assembled workforce, significant market share, and acguisition
premium reflecting Group’s capability to grow the business through acguisitions. In addition, goodwill includes contingent
consideration related to completion of NTS acquisition. Goodwill also arises on the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in
respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax deductions,

The consolidated opening balance sheet included USS 96.6 million of deferred tax asset recognised in the US on certain
acquired intangibles, including goodwill. These intangibles have been calculated under US tax legislation on historic
acquisitions of businesses made in the US. Management concluded that these US legacy intangibles are unrelated to the
goodwill recognised on the acquisition of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited by the Group. As a result, the
deferred tax asset of USS 96.6 million remained recognized on the opening bafance sheet of Element Materiais Technology
Group Limited.

Acquisition expenses of US $49.0 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss {other operating expenses).

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Element Materials Technoiogy Group Limited contributed US $514.5
million to revenue and US $105.4 million to loss for the period.

Purchase consideration {in US Smillion};

Cash consideration 2,920.0
Loan notes 52.5
Issuance of shares 482
Contingent consideration o e 2511
Total o 3,271.8

Contingent consideration

As a part of the purchase agreement with the previous awner, a consideration of US $237.1 million contingent on completion
of National Technical Systems acquisition has been agreed. As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent
consideration was estimated to be US $237.1 million. The acquisition of National Technical Systems was completed in
September 2023, and the contingent consideration has been paid fully before 31 December 2022.

In addition, additional censideration between nil and US $50.0 million has been agreed in relation to the outcome of legal
liabilities and other operating costs in relation to advisory service in Built Environment BU. As at the acquisition date, the fair
value of the contingent consideration was estimated at US $13.8 millien. The fair value is determined using DCF of possible
scenarios.

Cash flow on acquisition in US Smillion:

Transaction costs included in operating activities 49.0
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 2,852.0
Refinancing — repayment of acquired loan 1,747.2

The external borrowing facilities of Element Materials Technology Group were refinanced as a part of the business
combination. The new external borrowing facilities were recognized as a part of the liabilities assumed on acquisition above
(for further details refer to note 20) to the extent that the refinancing was completed within the acquired entities. Debt
drawn down by the acquirer for the purposes of refinancing is presented within Cash flows from financing activities in the
Consolidation Statement of Cash Flows.
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Triaion Corporation

On 8 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Trialon Corporation in the United States, a leading
provider of product qualification testing for the automotive supply chain, The acquisition of Trialon will further solidify
Group’s leadership in the North American mobility market in size and breadth of its offering.

Total consideration was US $53.6 million, consisting of US $54.3 million cash consideration, US $0.3 million of deferred
consideration, and a net working capital adjustment of US$ 1.0 million, Acquisition expenses of 1S $2.8 million were
incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

- Fair value recognized on
in S Smillion g

acquisition

Intangible assets 19.4
Property, plant and equipment 12.7
Trade and other receivables 7.4
Cash and cash equivalents 1.8
Trade and other payables (9.3)
Deferred tax {5.1)
Net assets acquired 269
Goodwill 26.7
Purchase consideration 53.6
Cash consideration 53.3
Deferred consideration 03

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Trialon contributed US $14.7 million to revenue and US $1.1 million to
profit before tax. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the financial year, the business would have contributed
US $15.3 million to revenue and profit befare tax US $0.2 million of Profit before tax, these metrics should not be viewed as
indicative of the results of this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been compieted at the beginning of
the year.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
acquired, represents benefits which do not qualify for recognition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to
generate higher returns than individual assets, skilled workforces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In
addition, goodwill arises on the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization
does not qualify for tax deductions. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in US $million:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 2.8
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 51.5

Fosta Pte. Limited

On 14 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Fosta Pte. Limited, a leading geotechnical
instrumentation and soil investigation specialist based in Singapore. The acquisiticn allows Group to offer end-ta-end project
services from site investigation to asset management and increase the scope of design phase services into non-discretionary
Services.

Total consideration for the transaction was US $49.3 million (SG $68.3million). Acquisition expenses of US $0.8 million were
incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consclidated statement of profit or loss.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:
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. - Fair value recognized on
in US Smillion g

acquisition

Intangible assets 5.7
Property, plant and equipment 1.2
Trade and other receivables 10.2
Cash and cash equivalents 2.3
Trade and other payables (3.3)
Delesied Lux 11.7)
Net assets acquired 14.4
Goodwill 34.9
Purchase consideration 49.3
Cash consideration 46.0
Deferred consideration 33

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Fosta contributed U5 $8.2 million to revenue and US $1.1 million to profit
before tax. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the period, the business would have contributed US $10.3
million to revenue, US $5.0 million to profit before tax. Profit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of the results of
this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the period.

Goodwili, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not qualify for recognition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individua! assets, skilled workforces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In addition, goodwill arises on
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax

deductions. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition,

Cash flow on acquisition in US $million:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 0.8
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 43.7

Singapore Test Services Private Limited (“STS”)

On 29 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of 5TS, leading testing, inspection, calibration and
certification provider in Singapore, for a total consideration of US $17.2 million {(SGD $23.8 million). The acquisition enables

Group to wider its capabilities and enable further growth in the region.

Acquisition expenses of US $0.9 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the censolidated

statement of profit or loss.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

- Fair value recognized on
In US $Smillion &

acquisiticn

intangible assets 1.4
Property, plant and equipment 08
Trade and other receivables 2.0
Cash and cash equivalents 3.8
Trade and other payables (2.6)
Deferred tax {0.3}
Net assets acquired 51
Goodwill 121
Purchase consideration 17.2
Cash consideration 16.5
Deferred consideration 0.7
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From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, STS contributed US 56 million to revenue and US ${0.4) million to loss
befere tax. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the period, the business would have contributed US $8.1
million to revenue, US $1.2 million ta profit befare tax. Praofit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of the results of
this business that would have cccurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the period.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not qualify for recagnition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individual assels, skilled worklurces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In addition, goodwill arises on
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amertization does not qualify for tax
deductions. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in Us Smillicn:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 0.9
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 12.7

National Technical Systems. Inc. ("N1%7)

On 26 September 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of NTS in the United States for a total
consideration of US $677.1 million. NTS is a provider of qualification testing, inspection, and certification services in North
America, and will strengthen Element’s growing platform in North America and enhance its capabilities in telecoms,
connected automotive, medical device and battery testing.

Acquisition expenses of US $9.5 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated
statement of prefit or loss.

The net assets recognized in the 31 December 2022 financial statements were based on a provisional assessment of their
fair value. The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value recognised

uUs Smiltion L
on acquisition
Intangible assets 264.7
Property, plant and equipment 214.3
Right of use asset 322
Investments in associates and JVs 4.4
Inventory 2.6
Trade and other receivables 55.7
Cash and cash eguivalents 13.6
Lease liability (32.2}
Trade and other payables (54.5)
Provisions (15.3)
Deferred tax (63.2)
Net assets acquired 4223
Geodwill 248.9
Total consideration 671.2
Receivable from escrow accounts 5.9
Total cash consideration paid 677.1

The cash consideration includes a payment of $20 million to escrow and holdback accounts out of which $5.9 miflion was
paid back to the Group in May 2023. The amount is therefore deducted fram the total consideration and recognized as a
receivable at December 2022,

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, NTS contributed US $67.9 million to revenue and (US $5.9) million to lass
for the period. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the period, the business weuld have contributed US
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$181.7 million to revenue and {US $28.5) million to profit before tax. Profit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of
the results of this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the period.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not qualify for recognition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individual assets, skilled warkforces and acquisition synergies that are specific te the Group. In addition, goodwill arises on
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax
deductions. There is no tax-deductible gonodwill an this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in US Smillion:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 9.5
_Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired _663.5

6. Revenue analysis

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue for the period ended 31 December 2022 from continuing operations:

uUs $million
Revenue from services rendered 607.1
Geographic analysis
United States and Canada 366.5
United Kingdom 28.4
Europe 85.8
Rest of the world 65.4
Total 607.1
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue by region:

US Smillion
Americas 387.3
EMEAA 219.8
Total 607.1

7. Staffcosts

Period ended 31 December 2022
Group employee expenses US Smillion
Wages and salary expenses 254.6
Social security expenses 23.0
Pension cost — defined contribution plans 9.1
Pension cost — defined benefit plans 3.1
Share-based payments (note 26) 1.9
Tetal 291.7
Qut of which separately disclosed items (note 4) 14.7
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Group employee numbers

United 5tates and Canada 4,398
United Kingdom 1,326
Europe 1,755
Rest of the world 1,396
Total 8,875
Average 7,828
Directors’ remuneration us Smillion
Fees paid to non-Executive Directors 0.1
Aggregate emoluments paid to Executive Directors 0.6
0.7

Highest paid Director remuneration
Aggregate emoluments _ ) o o ) 03

There are no retirement benefits accruing to Directors under pension schemes as at 31 December 2022, The employment
benefits other than salary of directors and other members of key management were:

Us Smillien
Short term employment benefits c.1

A total of three directors were remunerated by the Group during the period, the remaining Directors did not receive
remuneration for their services during the period.

8. Auditorremunoration

During the period ended 31 December 2022 the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor and its
associates:

Us Smiillion
Audit fees 7.3
Fees paid for audit services provided to Group 7.3
Tax compliance fees 0.4
Tax advisory fees 0.1
Transaction advisory and due diligence fees 2.7
Fees paid for non-audit services provided ta Group
Total 10.5

9. Fmancae income

Period ended 31 December 2022

Us Smillion
Interest income 0.4
Gain on derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss 49.9
Total 50.3
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10, Finance ¢osts

Period ended 31 December 2022

US Smillion
Bank loan interest 80.4
Intercompany interest accrued 34.4
Financing fees 314
rorelgh exchange loss 7.3
interest expense on lease liabilities 5.8
Total 159.3

in the period the Group recognized US $76.2 million cash outflow in relation to interest payment.

financing fees of $31.4m relate to costs incurred in relation to the cancellation of a of an unutilized facility for acquisition of
NTS (note 5) and subsequent refinancing.

il incom= faxes

Income tax recognized in the statement of profit or loss Us Smillion

Current tax

Current tax charge for the period 7.8
Withholding tax written off 0.4
8.2

Deferred tax
Deferred tax credit recognized in the period (19.9)
{11.7)
Total tax charge recognized in the period {11.7}

The income tax (credit}/charge for the period can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows:

Loss before tax from continuing operations (719.9)
Income tax credit calculated at 19.0% (136.7)
Effects of expenses that are not deductible in interest expense 7.3
Effacts of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes 114.3
Effects of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognized as deferred tax assets 6.4
Effects of different tax rates on subsidiaries operating in cther jurisdictions {1.7)
Overseas withholding tax 04
Effect of group rehef {1.6)
Effect of non-taxable income {0.5)
Cther 0.4

{11.7)

Income tax recognized directly in equity
Current tax
Local tax charge/{credit) on unrealized foreign exchange movements -

Deferred tax

Provisions {0.2)
Defined benefit pensions obligation 0.8
0.6
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2022
Current tax assets US Smillion
Income tax receivable 6.4
Current tax liabilities
Income tax payahle {7.4)
Non-Current tax liabilities
Cerporation tax payable {2.4)
The following is the analysis of deferred tax liabilities presented in the consolidated statement of financial position:

At 31

At 18 Current year Recognized in Foreign December

Us $million January 2022 Acquisitions (charge) / credit ocl exchange 2022
Net operating loss - 363 586 - (0.1) 41.8
Accrued expenses - 4.6 {0.6) - (0.1) 3.9
Prepaid expenses - (2.0) {1.3) - - (3.3)
Property, plant and eguipment - {88.2) 33 N (0.7) (85.6)
Intangible assets - {210.3) 21 - 1.4 (206.9)
Research and development - (1.5) Q0.3 - - (1.2)
Pravisions / accruals - 3.8 {09 {0.2} 0.3 3.0
Retirement benefit obligations - 0.3 {0.5) 0.8 - 0.6
Restricted interest - 354 19.6 - - 55.0
Other - 1.7 {7.6] - 0.2 15.7)
Total - {219.9} 20.0 0.6 1.0 {198.3)

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of the related deferred tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable.

At the statement of financial position date, the Group did not recognize a deferred tax asset of US $28.2 million relating to
tax losses, due to uncertainty over the availability of future taxable profits. The material cempaonents of the unrecognized
deferred tax asset comprise S $16.0 million relating to UK tax losses, US $6.7 million relating to Swedish tax losses and US
$1.0 million reiating to German tax losses.

The Group also has an unracognized deferred tax asset of US $3.9 million relating to accrued interest in the US arising as a
result of the s. 163j interest limitation provisions. There is uncertainty as to when the interest amounts will be available to
deduct against taxable profits.

No deferred tax liability has been recognized in respect of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries. It is likely that the majority
of the pverseas earnings will qualify for the UK dividend exemption and the Group can control the distribution of dividends
by its subsidiaries. in some jurisdictions local tax is payable on the remittance of a dividend. If dividends were remitted
from subsidiaries in these countries the additional tax payable would be US $6.9 million with the gross timing difference
heing US $137.8 million.

A UK budget resolution was anncunced an 3rd March 2021 and substantively enacted on 24th May 2021, increasing the UK
corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%, effective from 1st April 2023. UK deferred tax balances within the accounts have been
calculated using a corporation tax rate of 25%.
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12. Goodwill
US Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions of subsidiaries {note 5) 5,041.6
Exchange movements {27.9)
Impairment {544.9)
As at 31 December 2022 4,468.8
For the purposes of impairment assessment, goodwill is allocated to group of CGUs as follows:
e US Smillion
(i} Aerospace and Defense US 864.0
{ii) Connected Technologies US 674.9
(iii} Life Sciences US 937.7
(iv} Aerospace & Connected Technologies EMEAA, 540.8
(v} Calibration 102.6
{vi} Built Environment EMEAA 503.0
{vii) Life Sciences, EMEAA 328.8
{viii} Digital Engineering EMEAA 31.0
{ix) Naticnal Technical Systems (“NTS”) 486.0
Total 4,468.8777

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that it might be impaired. The
Group performed an impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible asset balances for each group of CGUs
{Business Unit) in accordance with the reguirements of IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” by comparing the carrying values
against the higher of fair value and “value-in use” in perpetuity.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for
publicly traded companies or ather available fair value indicators.

Element bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately
for each of Element’s group of CGUs to which the individual assets are altocated. These budgets and forecast calculations
generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after
the fifth year.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each group of CGUs to which the goodwill
relates. When the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is less thanits carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Key assumptions used in determining the recoverable value:

+ Element’s Directors determined the nine business units {operating under two regional management structures) as the
appropriate level at which the impairment assessment should be performed.

Value in Use ("WIU"}

+ Element’s Directors have prepared a calculation of the present value of expected future cash flows based on the Element’s
Board approved 2023 budget and & 5-year forecast plan for 2023 — 2027, including, where appropriate cash flows
discounted te perpetuity.

109



EM WMidca2 Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The key assumptions within the preseat value of future cash flows are margin and long-term growth rate in the terminal
year. Operating profit margin forecasts for each group of CGUs are derived from past results adjusted by Element’s
Directors hased on salient current and future considerations. The leng-term growth rate of 2.75% has been applied across
all business units. Growth rates generally approximate to the long-term average rates for the markets in which Element
operates, adjusted for future expectations taking account of the current economic climate.

Cash canversion rates for each group of CGUs are based on histarical cash conversion rates. The margins are assumed ta
increase across all business units. The range used lur marging increases from 11.3% - 28.8% tu 17.1% - 35.6% over the
forecast period.

Pre-tax discount rates reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to Element as
a whole. The pre-tax discount rates used are based on Element’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect a
risk premium specific to each group of CGUs. Element’s weighted average cost of capital is derived from a risk-free rate,
a market risk premium, a risk adjustment (beta) and a cost of debt adjustment.

Pre-tax
CGU at ViU discount rate
{i} Aerospace and Defense US 9.92%
{ii) Connected Technologies US 8.72%
{v) Calibration 9.52%
{vi} Built Environment EMEAA 10.50%
{ix) National Technical Systems {“NTS") 9.69%

Fair value less cost of sell {“FVLLTS")

A methodology utilizing Revenue and EBITDA multiples (based on the average between guideline company and
transaction methods) was used to calculate each group of CGU’s fair vaiue less cast of sell. The concluded fair vaiue
assumes a level of bolt-on M&A activities representing less than 10% of annual EBITDA.

The key assumptions within the fair value calculation are the valuation multiples.

Revenue multiple EBITDA multiple
Guideline Transaction | Guideline  Transaction
company method* company method*
{iii) Life Sciences US 4.4% 4.0-4.7x 12.7x 11.9-16.1x
{iv) Aerospace & Connected Technologies EMEAA 3.0x 2.7 -3.5x 11.7x 10.9 - 15.3x
{vii! Life Sciences, EMEAA 3.0x 2.7 -3.5x 13.8x 12.0-16.1x
{viil) Digital Engineering EMEAA 2.5x 2.4 - 2.8x 11.7x 10.9-15.5x

*The guideline transaction method is using a weighted average of revenue and EBITDA multiples over 3 years.
The M&A value is based on the present value of expected future cash flows for a 5-year forecast plan. The key assumption
is the pre-tax discount rate of 9.25%, EBITDA annual growth of 8%, and expected terminal value based on a valuation

multiple of 18x.

The fair value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technique used.

Impairment charges

Element recorded an impairment charge of US$544.3 million due to weaker performance against projections resulting
from rising interest rates and inflation, and general economic uncertainty.

This impairment charge had been recorded under Impairment of goodwill in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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The recoverable amount per CGU and impairment loss on goodwill of the groups of CGUs were as follows:

Basis for Recoverable Impairment of

In US Smillions Recoverable P |
amount of CGU  goodwill

- e —— _amount
{i) Aerospace and Defense U§ viu 1,343.1 39 8
{ii} Connected Technologies Us ViU 977.5 124.9
{iii) Life Sciences US FVLCTS 1,252.0 119.8
{iv) Aerospace & Connected Technelogies EMEAA FVLCTS £89.4 161.8
{v) Calibration ViU 185.4 12.4
{vi) Built Environment EMEAA ViU 737.7
{vii} Life Sciences, EMEAA FVLCTS 387.8 65.1
{viii) Digital Engineering EMEAA FVLCTS 410 171
{ix) National Technical Systems (“NTS"} ViU 1,069.5
Total o 5,683.4 544.9

The estimated recoverable amount of Built Environment EMEAA CGU exceeded its carrying amount by approximately
15542 million.

The estimated recaverable amount of NTS CGU exceeded its carrying amount by approximately USS$ 153 million.

Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to
exceed the recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by which these two assumptions weould need to
change individually for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

Change required for carrying amount te equal the
recoverable amount
Gey _ Discount rate (in %) Terminal growth (in %)

‘Built Environment EMEAA o 0.4 (0.5)
National Technical Systems {“NTS") 09 7 o 1.29)

The following tabkles illustrate impact of reascnably possible changes in key assumptions on the impairment charge per
CGU.

In US Smiltions Changes in key assumptions — Value in Use
Group of CGUs Long term growth Discount rate
2.5% 3.0% -0.5% 0.5%

(i) Aerospace and Defense US 458 {38.3) (38.3) 113.6
{il) Connected Technologies US 436 {47.7) (100 0) 101.4
(v) Calibration & Testing Nordics, 7.7 {7.0) (12.2) 156
{vi} Built Environment EMEAA 0.0 0.0 0.0 13.7
(ix) National Technical Systems ("NT5") Q.0 0.0 0.0 ¢.0
Increase / (decrease) in impairment 96.2 (93.0} (150.5) 244.3
In US $miflions Changes in key assumpticens — Fair Value
Group of CGUs Revenue multiple EBITDA multiple Discount rate Annual growth Terminal value

-10.0% 10.0% -10.0% 10.0% -0.5% 0.5% -2.0% 2.0% -10.0% 10.0%
(i} Life Sciences US 29.2 {29.0) 68.6 (68.5) (10.7) 10.3 | 22.1 {23.00 518 (51.9)
g:i::;f:;iiesiéngeam 16 (114) ] 343 (343) 8.9) 86 4 184 (191) 432 (43.2)
{vil} Life Sciences, EMEAA 75 (7.3 | 161 (16.1) | (6.2) 60 | 129 (13.4) 30.3 {30.3)
(viri} Digital Engineering EMEAA 0.4 {0.5) 1.5 (1.5) % (0.9) 0.9 3 18 (1.9 4.3 {4.3)
:::;::: E" n(tde“ease) " 488 (482) | 1205 (1203} 3 26.7) 25.8 j $5.2  (57.4) | 1207 (129.9)
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13. Other intangibie assets

Totai

Cost Cl-.lstonjer Trade Technology Software
relationships names

As at 18 lanuary 2022 - - . - -
Acquisitions {note 5) 1,096.0 190.6 14.8 19.1 1,3205
Addilivns - - - 6.4 6.4
Transfers - 0.8 (0.8) -
Disposals - - - (1.3) - {1.3)
Exchange movements (4.3} {1.2) 0.1} (0.9) (6.5)
As at 31 December 2022 1,091.7 189.4 15.5 22.5 1,319.1
Accumulated Amortization and Impairment
As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Charge far the year 27.3 3.8 2.4 1N 47.2
Disposals - - - (1.1} 1.1)
Exchange movements (0.1} (0.1) (0.0} {0.5) (0.8)
As at 31 December 2022 27.2 9.7 2.4 6.1 454
Net hook value
As at 31 December 2022 1,064.5 179.7 13.1 16.4 1,273.6

Amartization policy lor each asset class is disclosed in note 2.7 and the impairment of assets policy is disclosed in note 2.8,

14. Property, plant and equipment

Land & Leasehold Plant & Assets under Total
Cost Buildings Improvements Equipment Construction US $million
As at 18 fanuary 2022 - - - - -
Acquisitions (note 5) 144.9 62.8 378.4 32.9 619.0
Additions 2.3 2.2 14.7 39.0 58.2
Transfers 2.4 1.3 15.6 (20.1) (0.8)
Disposals {1.3) (0.7) (8.8) (3.2) (14.0)
Exchange movements {0.3) (0.2) (2.3) (0.1) {2.9)
As at 31 December 2022 148.0 65.4 397.6 48.5 659.5
Accumulated Depreciation and impairment
As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Charge for the Period 2.0 4.4 39.4 45.9
Disposals {0.2) {0.4) (8.2) (8.7}
Excharnge movements (1.2) (1.2)
As at 31 December 2022 1.8 4.0 30.1 35.9
Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 146.2 61.4 367.5 48.5 623.6

The depreciation policy for each asset class is disclosed in note 2.12 and the impairment of assets policy is disclosed in note

2.8
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iy Py et R s R T s [ U IR . -
13 lpvestmerts it associates and joint vantures

US Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions (Note 5) 6.0
Additions 1.0
Share of profit of agsociate and jeint ventures 0.8
Share buy-back scheme ¢.5
Dividends received {2.3)
As at 31 December 2022 5.9

As a part of Element Material Technology Group and NTS business combinations {nate 5) the Group acquired investment
Plastometrex Limited {US $1.6 million) and joint venture interest in Shanghai NQA Certification Co. Ltd (US 54.4 million),
respectively. Both investments are accounted far as an interest in associate using the equity method

During the period the Group acquired a further 0.8% shareholding in Plastremetrex Limited. The carrying value of the
investment at 31 December 2022 is US $2.5 million.

Total Group’s share on other comprehensive income of the associates and joint ventures is nil.

15, Traco rece'vablas and other recevable

[

Us Smillion
Trade receivahles 2396
Prepayments 54.1
Qther receivables 24.7
As at 31 December 2022 3184

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal teo lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

In determining the recoverabitity of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The Directors consider that the carrying amount
of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

The aging of trade receivabies not impaired: US Smillion

Not past due 147.2
Past due 0-30 days 41.0
Past due 31-60 days 17.7
Past due 61-90 days 109
Past due 90 days 27.4
Less: expected credit loss (4.6)
As at 31 December 2022 239.6
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Receivables split by currency: us Smillian
U.S. Dollar 142.6
Pound Sterling 33.2
Euro 20.2
Canadian Dollars 9.3
Swedish Krona 7.2
Other currencics 27.1
Total as at 31 December 2022 239.6
Movements in the expected credit losses US Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions 3.9
Reversal of expected credit losses during the period {1.4)
Increase in expected credit loss during the period 3.0
Receivables written off during the period as uncollectable (0.8)
Exchange adjustments (C.1)
As at 31 December 2022 4.6

US Smillion
U.S. Doltar 33.6
Eurg 12.6
Pound Sterling 62.4
Singaporean Dollars 7.5
Other currencies 18.2
Total as at 31 Decembar 2022 134.3

The balance as at 31 December 2022 consists of cash at banks and on hand. The Group does not have restricted cash.

18 Other payables

Current us Smillion
Accrued bonuses, wages and personnel costs 51.2
Other accrued liabdities 716
Contract liabilities 431
Customer deposits 12.0
Total as at 31 December 2022 174.9

The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables approximates their carrying amount.

Within other accrued liabilities there is US $5.5 million refating to employment liabilities accrued in accordance with
regulatory requirements in foreign jurisdictions, $9.4m relating to accruzls of separately disclosed items, $11.0m relating to
Goods received but not invoiced and $5.4m relating to Capex accruals.

Non-Current us $million
Other liabilities 17.0
Amounts payable to parent company 862.0
Total 379.0
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13 Provisions

Dilapidation Legal Environmental Restructuring Total
provisions provisions provisions Provisions LIS Smillien
As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Acquisitions {note 5) 354 11.2 130 4.2 63.8
Additions 6.5 - - 1.2 7.7
Utilized during the period {0.3) {€.1) - (1.6} (2.0)
Exchange movements {0.4) {0.2) - 1.4 0.9
As at 31 December 2022 41.2 10.9 13.0 5.3 70.4
Included in:
Current liabilities 4.9 2.9 - 4.5 12.2
Nen-current liabilities 36.3 8.0 13.0 0.8 58.1
As at 31 December 2022 41.2 10.9 13.0 5.3 70.4

Dilapidation provision

The dilapidation provisions represent management’s best estimate of restoration costs with respect to leased properties for
which a present obligation exists and a reliable estimate can be made. The timing of the cash outflows is expected to be over
the next 1-15 years as leases expire.

Legal provision

The Group is invelved in varicus claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of its business. The outcome of such litigation and
the timing of any potential liability is uncertain, as it is often subject to legal proceedings. Based cn information currently
avalilable, the Directors consider that the cost to the Group of an unfavorable outcome arising from such litigation is unlikely
to have a materially adverse effect on the financial position of the Group in the foreseeable future. in making provision for
claims, managemeant has used its judgment to assess the circumstances relating to each specific event, internal and external
legal advice, knowledge of the industries and markets, prevailing commercial terms and fegal precedents.

Environmental provision

The provision represents estimated costs of clean up, land redevelopment and restoration of specific testing sites in US. The
provision has been recognized as a part of NTS acquisition {Note 5}.

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provision relates to various fundamental restructuring activities, including site consclidations, closure of non-
core business units, re-engineering of underperforming businesses and the delayering of management structure.
Management has used its best judgment to estimate the cost and the timing of the cash outflows and estimated that majority
is likely to be within one year of the statement of financial position date.
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29, Loans, Dorrawings and redeemable shares

Total

Current Non-Current US Smillions

First Lien Term Loan 142 1,803.7 1,817.9

Second Lien Term Loan 347 .9 3479

Deferred financing costs (9.9) (68.4} {78.3)
_Capex/acquisition and revolving credit facilites 1370 L RREETAY
_Interest bearing loans and borrowings 141.3 .. &es32 22245

The principal terms of the Groug’s Loans and borrowings at the year-end were as follows:

First Lien Term Loan

The First Lien Term loans consist of the following facilities:

US 5975 million principal amount acquired as a part of Element Material Technelogy Greup Limited (note 5 on 6
luly 2022. The loan has an annuat repayment of 1% of the original drawn down value, payable from 31 March 2023.
The remaining balance is repayable in full on maturity (06 July 2029}, The loan carries variable interest at SOFR plus
4.25% margin. The outstanding principal as at 31 Dacember 2022 is US $975 million.

A further US $450 million was raised on 26 September 2022. The loan has an annual repayment of 1% of the
original drawn down value, payable from 31 March 2023. The remaining balance is repayable in full on maturity
(06 July 2029}. The loan carries variable interest at SOFR plus 4.25% margin, The outstanding principal as at 31
December 2022 is US 5450 million.

EUR 37C.0 million {US $386.7 million) principal amount was drawn on 06 July 2022 and is repayable in full on
maturity (06 July 2029). The loan carries variable interest at EURIBOR plus 4.25% margin. The outstanding principal
as at 31 December 2022 is EUR 370 million {US $392.9 million).

Second Lien Term Loan

The Second Lien Term loans consist of the following facilities:

The principal amount of the facility is GBP 220.8 million (US $ 268.2 million) and was drawn on 06 July 2022, The
outstanding loan is repayable in full on 06 July 2030. The loan carries variable interest at SONIA plus margin of
7.25%.

A further GBP 68.2 million {US $80.0 million} was raised on 26 September 2022 and was an extension to the original
draw down with the interest and repayment terms remaining unchanged.

As at 31 December 2022, the total amount cutstanding on the Second Lien Term Loan is GBP 289.0 millicn (US
$347.9 million).

Capex/acquisition and revalving credit facilities

A series of drawdowns and payments were made an the capex/acquisiticn and revolving credit facilities during 2022, which
in part remain unpaid as at 31 December 2022. The interest paid on the capex/acquisition facility is variable and is charged
at Libor plus 3.5% margin. Interest on the revolving credit facility is variable and is charged at SOFR/SONIA/EURIBOR (as
applicable) plus 3.5%

The following drawdowns and payments occurred during 2022:
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Capex/acquisition:

. US $101.0 million was drawn on 7 July 2622. At 31 December 2022.
e USS516.0 miltion was drawn on 22 luly 2022 At 31 December 2022,

Revolving credit facility:

» US 55.0 million was drawn on 23 September 2022. The full balance was repaid on 24 October 2022.

*«  EUR 6.0 million {US $5.8 million) was drawn on 27 September 2022. The full balance was repaid on
27 October 2022,

*  GBP 5.0 million {US $5.9million} was drawn on 27 September 2022. The fufl balance was repaid on
27 October 2022,

. US $15.0 million was drawn on 14 Nevember 2022.

e US$5.0 million was drawn on 23 December 2022,

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding amount of the capex/acquisition facility is US $117.0 million and the outstanding
amount of the revelving credit facility is US $20.0 million. The capex/acquisition and the revolving credit facility have a
maturity date of 6 January 2029.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

At 18 Acquisition Drawdowns Repayme interest Interest Exchange At 31
January {note 5) nts accrued paid movement December 2022
2022
First Lien Term Loan - 975.0 836.6 - 57.9 {57.9) 6.3 1,817.3
Second Lien Term Loan - - 346.1 - 13.8 {13.8} 18 347.9
ACF and RCF - - 153.9 {16.2) 45 (4.5) 0.7) 137.0
Loan refinanced on
acquisition (note 5) - 1,747.2 - {1,747.2} - - - -
Deferred financing costs - - - (81.7) 4.2 - 0.8) (78.3)
Interest bearing loans
and borrowings N 2,722.2 1,336.6 {1,845.1} 80.4 (76.2) 6.6 2,224.5

Analysis of borrowings by currency:

Total
- GBP EUR UsSD  US $million
Second Lien Term Loan {net of deferred financing costs) 336.4 - - 336.4
First Lien Term loan {net of deferred financing costs) - 381.8 1,377.6 1,759.4
Capex/acquisition and revolving credit facilities (net of deferred financing costs) - - 128.7 128.7
As at 31 December 2022 336.4 381.8 1,506.3 2,224.5
Analysis of undrawn borrowings under the Senior Facilities Agreement (SFA):
e uUs Smillion
Capex/acquisition 83.0
Revelving credit facility 157.1
Totai 2401

The available undrawn facilities are multi-currency, At 31 December 2022, the Group has a US 522.9 million, letter of credit
outstanding (refer to note 30},

The weighted average interest rates paid during the period were as follows:
%
Bank loans 71
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21 Deforrod and contirgant consideration

Total

us Smillion

Contingent consideration as at 18 Jlanuary 2022 -

Acquisitions 264.2

Payinent of deferred and contingent consideration {241.6)

Fair value re-measurement (4.1)

Contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 18.5

Deferred consideration 4.6

Total deferred and contingent consideration 231
Included in: US $million
Current liabilities 9.3
Non-current liabilities 13.8
As at 31 December 2022 231

The fair value of the contingent consideration determined at 31 December 2022 isthe present value of expected future cash
flows based on the latest forecasts of future performance. Changes to the original present value of the expected future cash
flows are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Deferred and contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 relates to the following past transactions:

Norton Straw Limited (acquired 1 December 2021) purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of a
holdback payment. The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $0.4 million (GB £0.3 million). This amount was paid
in March 2023,

impact Analytical inc. {acquired 1 September 2021) purchase consideration included contingent consideration based on
future EBITDA targets being met. The contingent consideration range is between a minimum of 5nil and a maximum of US
$5.0 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration recagnized on 6 july 2022 was US 55.0 million. The fair value of
the contingent consideration was reduced to US $3.5 million as at 31 December 2022 reflecting the final earn out results.
The release of the contingent consideration (S $1.5 million) has been recagnized in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The contingent consideration was paid in June 2023.

The consideration to acquire Energy Assurance LLC (purchased 8 April 2022) included contingent consideration based on
future EBITDA targets being met, as well as deferred consideration in the form of a holdback payment, The contingent
consideration range is between a minimum of $nil and a maximum of US $3.7 millien, The fair value of the contingent
consideration recognized on 6 July 2022 was US 52.5 millien and was adjusted ta nil as at 31 December 2022 based on
updated EBITDA performance. The release of the contingent consideration was recognized in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $2.9 million as at 31 December 2022 {adjusted during the
periad by US $0.1m fram US $3.0 million) and was paid in January 2023.

The Group acquired a further 0.8% shareholding in Plastrometrex Limited in July 2022 for US $1.0 million (note 16). During
the period US $0.5 million has been paid with US $0.5 million outstanding as at 31 December 2022. The deferred
consideration has been paid in March and July 2023 in equal instalments.

The consideration to acquire Argen Labs LLC {purchased 7 September 2021) in¢iuded contingent consideration based on
future EBI{TDA targets being met. The contingent consideration range is between a minimum of $nil and a maximum of US
$1.2 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 is US $1.2 million and was paid in January
2023.

Clinimark LLC {acquired 8 April 2022} purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of heldback
payments. The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $0.6 million. This amount was paid in April 2023.
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Deferred and contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 relates to the following acquisitions in the period (note 5):

Trialon Corporation purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of a holdback payment, The
deferred consideration is for US $0.3 million and is payable in the second half of 2023.

The acquisition of Singapore Test Services Private Limited included deferred consideration of a holdback payment. The
delenred consider ativin recugized un acyuisitivn was U5 S0.7 million (5GD $1.0 million) and was paid in the period. Ac at 31
December 2022 $nil amounts are outstanding.

The acquisition of Fosta Pte. Limited included deferred consideration of a holdback payment. The deferred consideration
recognized on acquisition was US $3.3 million (SGD $4.6 miltion) and was paid in the period. As at 31 December 2022 Snil
amounts are outstanding.

The acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group limited included a consideration contingent on completicn of the
acquisition of NTS. The contingent consideration of $237.1m was paid in the period. As at 31 December 2022 S$nil amounts
are outstanding.

The acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited aiso included a contingent consideration dependent on
outcomes of certain legal matters and operating results of advisory service business in Built Environment BU. The fair value
was established on a basis of DCF of possible cutcome scenarios. The estimated value of US513.8 million as at the acquisition
date of 6 July 2022 remained the best estimate as at the year end.

22, Francial instruments

-
¢ H

Financiai risk management objectives and policies

The Group's finance function provides services to the business, cooerdinates access to domestic and international financial
markets, and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports
which analyze exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. The Group’s business and financial results are affected by
fluctuations in global financial markets, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group manages
these risks through a combination of normal operating and financing activities and derivative financial instruments. The
Group uses interest rate cap contracts to manage its exposure to interest rate changes. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Financial risk management including the use of financial instruments and the related currency, liquidity, credit and interest
rate risks is dealt with by the Group finance function of the parent on behalf of the Group.
Fair waius m2asurements

in accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, financial instruments are classified in the form of a three-level
fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognized at fair value:

. Level 1: guoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets ar liabilities;

. Level 2: inputs other than guoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

Fair value Fair value Carrying amount 31
Financial assets / (Financial liabilities) ~ __ hierarchy = 310ecember2022 _ December 2022
Contingent consideration in & business Level 3 (18.5) (18.5}
combination L
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swap contract Level 2 54.8 54.8
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At 31 December 2022, the Group dassified all financial instruments at level 2 fair value measurement for the purposes of
disclosing their fair value, with the exception of trade receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and contingent
consideration. Between 18 lanuary 2022 and 321 December 2022, there were no transfers hetween fevel 1 and level 2 fair
vaiue measurements and no transfers into or out of level 3 fair value measurements.

At 31 December 2022, there is one type of level 3 fair value measurement which relates to contingent consideration liabilities
resulting from acquisition activity. The fair value of the contingent consideration lizhilities is based on an assessment of the
probabifity of possiblie outcomes discounted to net present value. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration liabilities are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments.
All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities are accounted for in accordance with
refevant IFRSs and designated through the statement of profit or loss.

For financial instruments that are recognized at fair value on a recurring hasis, the Group determines whether transfers have
ccecurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization {based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole} at the end of each reporting year.

The Group management reviews and manages the key risks that could prevent the Group from meeting its business
objectives, The Group management consists of senior managers from operating sectors and reports findings and actions
directly to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board. This process covers all risk areas, including strategic, operaticna!l and
financial risks. The key risks identified by management are as follows:

Credicrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk ot tinancial loss from defaults.

Trade receivable exposures are managed locally in the cperating units where they arise. Credit terms vary by country and
are set as deemed appropriate for the customer. The Group actively monitors concentration of credit risk whereby ne
customer represents greater than 10% of total trade receivables throughout the period. The Greup’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of credit risk within the business is spread
amongst a number of approved counterparties. Credit exposure is contralled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and
approved by management. The carrying amount of the financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of
expected credit losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

The Group uses the IFRS 9 ECL model to measure loss allowances at an amount equal to their lifetime expected credit ioss.

In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has categorized exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit
rating information is based on a range of gualitative and guantitative factors that are deemed to be indicative of risk of
default and range from 1 {lowest risk of default} to 5 {greatest risk of default}. Loss allowances for trade receivables from
related parties held by the Group are deemed immaterial.

Net
Group Gross exposure Loss allowance Exposure
rating Us Smillion Us Smillion Us Smillien
1 147.2 147.2
2 41.0 41.0
3 17.7 17.7
4 10.9 10.9
5 27.4 {4.6) 22.8
Total 244.2 (4.6) 239.6

Ligad ty rise

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding may not be available for the Group’s business activities. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities and continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows including consideration of appropriate sensitivities.
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The Group monitors cash balances daily and projects cash on a rolling thirteen-week basis. The Group’s financial risk
management activities in this area seek to achieve a balance between certainty of funding with committed facilities and a
flexibie cost-effective structure.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had credit facilities of US $400.0 million, of which US $137.0 millien had been drawn down
leaving US $263.0 million undrawn. The Group held cash of US $134.3 million at the end of the period.

In addition to cash and undrawn facilities available, liquidity risk is managed through on-going review of the Group’s financial
projections by the Group finance function. Recommendations may then be made to the Board to mitigate cash outflows
through restriction or deferral of discretionary expenditure.

The table below analyses the Group'’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining years, at the statement of financial position date, to the contractual matunty date. The amounts
disclosed in the table represent the contractual undiscounted cash fiows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
value as the impact of discounting is not considered to be significant.

Between Between Between

Less than one and two two and three and More than Total

one year years three years five years five years US $million
Senior Facilities Agreement: 143 143 143 785 1,353.8 14252
secured
Capgx/acggasmon and revolving 137.0 ) ) ) ) 137.0
credit facility
Second Lien Term Loan 347 .9 3479
Trade payables 51.3 - - - - 51.3
Other payables 168.4 6.9 0.5 2.8 6.9 185.4
Lease liabilities 41.6 354 307 44.2 66.7 2186
As at 31 December 2022 412.6 56.6 45.5 75.5 1,775.3 2,365.4

Market risk

The business activities of the Group expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks
are managed and measured.

. P il
interastrate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks on its secured bank loans {note 20}. Management closely monitors the market
changes in interest rates and any potential impact the changes have on its ability to service its debt facility.

In addition to the available cash and cash from operations, the Group uses short and long-term debt to finance business
activities. Interest rates on bank borrowings range between 2.2% and 4.3%. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its
debt abligations.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of lcans
and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Group's profit before tax is affected through the
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:
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Increase/decrease in basis Effect on profit before

points tax (US Smillion)
US Dellar +50 7.8
Pound +50 1.7
Euro +50 2.0
US Dollar -50 {7.8)
Pound -50 (1.7}
Euro -50 (2.0}

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market
environment.

Foreisn currency risk

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. These risks include the translation of local currency balances and results of the Group's worldwide
operations into United States Deollars. In addition, there are gains and losses related to intercempany and third-party
transactions denominated in currencies other than a location’s functional currency. The Group operates in over 30 countries,
although the principal currency exposures relate to Sterling and Euro. The Group’s objective is to minimize the volatility of
its exposures to these risks through a combination of normal operating and financing activities. Currency risk is managed
centraliy by the Group.

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Euro and GBP exchange rates, with ali
other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s post-tax equity is due to changes in the fair value of loans and
borrowings denominated in GBP and Euros, The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is
not material.

Change in GBP rate Effect on profit before tax
US Smillion

+5% (16.6)

-5% 18.3

Change in Euro rate Effect on profit before tax
US $million

+5% (18.7)

-5% 207

The movement in post-tax equity arises from changes in GBP and Eurc denominated borrowings (net of cash and cash
equivalents). These movements will offset the foreign exchange translation difference of fereign operations.

Capital managemeant

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able te continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s overal! strategy
remains unchanged.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings disclosed in note 20 after deducting cash and cash
equivalents) and equity of the Group (as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity).

The Groug is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Group’s risk to the capital structure is reviewed
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the Group consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital.
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The Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world. In most locations, these are defined contribution
arrangements. However, there are defined benefit pension plans in the UK, Sweden and Germany, which require
cantributions to be made to separately administered funds or insurance companies.

Cefined contribution pension scnemos

A defined contributicn plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive ohligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are reccgnized as an employee benefit expense in the statement of profit or foss when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group made US $9.1 million {note 7} payment to defined
contribution plansin 2022.

D2fined benefit pension schames
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benetit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years; that
benefit is discounted to detarmine its present value.

The largest of the defined benefit pension schemes is the UK scheme, TTL Chiltern Group Pensicn Scheme. The assets of this
scheme are administered by trustees in a fund independent from those of the participating companies and invested directly
on the advice of the independent professional investment managers.

The Scheme provides pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are linked to a member’s final
salary at retirement and their length of service. Since 1 October 2015 the Scheme has been closed tc future accrual. The
Scheme is a registered scheme under UK legisiation and was contracted out of the State Second Pension. The Scheme is
subject to the scheme funding requirements outlined in UK legislation. The Scheme was established from 2 March 1978
under trust and is governed by the Scheme's rules dated 22 July 2011 and subsequent amending deeds (the “Rules”). The
Trustees are responsible for the operation and the governance of the Scheme, including making decisions regarding the
Scheme’s funding and investment strategy. Under clause 66, of the Rules the Company is entitled to an unconditional right
to a refund of surplus if the Scheme winds up with excess assets,

The Scheme exposes the Company to actuarial risks such as: market {investment;} risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk currency
risk and longevity risk. The Scheme does not expose the Company te any unusual Scheme-specific or Company-specific risks.

The Scheme’s investment strategy is to invest broadly 55% in return seeking assets {with 27.5% allocated to diversified
growth funds and 27.5% allocated to equities) and 45% in matching assets (with 20.5% allocated to fixed index-linked giits
or other inflation linked assets and 24.5% allocated to carperate bonds). This strategy reflects the Scheme’s liability profile
and the Trustees” and Company’s attitude to risk.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every three years using assumptions agreed between the Trustee and the
Group management. The purpose of this valuation is to design a funding plan to ensure that the pension scheme has
sufficient funds available tc meet future benefit payments. The most recent valuation was carried cut by an independent
professionally qualified actuary as at 31 December 2022 and revealed a funding deficit of GBP £1.4 millien (US 51.7 millicn).
The Group agreed to pay monthly contributions of GBP £0.1 million {US 50.1 million) ceasing on 31 January 2025 in line with
the recovery plan dated 6 Octeber 2021. In 2022, the Group made contributions of US $0.6 million te the UK scheme. The
Group expects to make contributions of US $1.2 million in 2023.

In addition, Scherne expenses, Pension Protection Fund Levies and insurance premiums are paid directly by the Group.
Contributions to the Scheme are subject to review at future actuarial valuations and subsequent certification of a new
schedule of contributions.

The liabilities of the Scheme are based on the current value of expected benefit payment cashflows to members of the
Scheme. On the chosen IAS 19 assumptions the average duration of the liabilities to the beneficiaries at 31 December 2022
is approximately 19 years.
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Total pension cost for the period ended 31 December 2022
The pension expense relating to defined benefit schemes, recognized in the Group statement of profit or loss consists of:

Us $million
Defined benefit schemes
Defined benefit scheme — current service cost 0.5
Net pension interest cost 0.1
"Wﬁgﬁéiozv\ ;:;)st included in operatiné profit o - os

The current service cost, past service cost and scheme administration costs are included in operating expenses in the Group
statement of profit or loss. Net pension interest cost is included in finance costs.

Actuanal gains and losses recognized directly in the Group statement of comprehensive income:

US Smillion
Cumulative losses at 18 January 2022 -
Recognized gain/(loss) in the period S & =) I
Cumulative loss at 31 December 2022 (1.3)

Remeasurements of the net defined liability shown in the group statement of compreheansive income are as follows:

US $million
'Net remeasurement — assumption changes 0.2)
Net remeasurement — experience -
Return on assets — eﬁ:_l_tfdi_n_g interest incorne L 105
Total remeasurement of the net defined liability shown in the group statement of other 13

comprehensive income

Employer contributions
In the period ended 31 December 2022, the Group made contributions of US $0.6 million to all defined benefit schemes of
which US $0.6 million relates to the UK scheme.

Pension liability for defined benefit schemes
The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit schemes were as follows:

e _Ys$million

Fair value of scheme assets 50.3
Pre;gqtmvaiyg gfiggfjfdmgefined benefit obligations S (551)
Net liability in the statement of financial position (4.8)

The fair value changes in the schemes are shown betow:
At 18 fanuary 2022 - ; - §
Acquisitions 40.1 {43.8) (3.7)
Current service ¢ost - (0.5) (0.5)
Net interest cost 1.2 {1.2) -
Actuarial gains/{losses) {10.5) 9,2 (1.3)
Contributions by the employer 0.6 - 0.6
Benefits paid (1.7) 2.0 0.3
Tax - 0.3 0.3
Effect of‘exchange rate chaﬁnges'on pyersga;sﬁchreinjes 20.6 {2y {05
At 31 December 2022 50.3 (55.1) (4.8)

Compaosition of scheme assets in each category:
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US Smillion uK Sweden scheme
scheme
Equities 16.4 1.4
Bonds 14.4 33
LDI 14.1 -
Structured products 0.7
Cail ] 0.2 0.0
At 31 December 2022 45.1 5.4

The equities and bonds held within the UK and Swedish scheme are all quoted in active markets. The other schemes have no

assets. The actual return on scheme assets was as follows:

Us Smillion scher';:z Sweden scheme
Actual return for the pericd 10.0 0.4
The pension surplus/(deficit) of each scheme at 31 December was as follows:
USs $million UK Sweden Germany
o scheme scheme schemes
Present value of funded defined benefit obligations {46.8) (7.4) (0.3)
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations 0.0 0.0 {0.5)
Fairvalueofschemeassets .. _._ 41 51 .00
Net Defined Benefit liability at 31 Dccember 2022 (1.7) {2.3) {0.8)
Principal actuarial assumptions:
UK Sweden Germany
Discount rate 5.0% 4.1% 3.8%
Inflation rate 3.2% 2.2% 2.0%
Rate of salary increases 2.6% 2.4% 2.0%
Life expectancy for pensioners at the age of 65 {years):
Male 222 22.2 20.6
Female 24.6 24.6 24.0

Changes in significant assumptions would have the following impact on the defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2022:

US $million UK Scheme Sweden Scheme

0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50%

Assumptions .
increase Decrease increase decrease
Discount rate 13 {1.3) {0.7) 0.6
Inflation rate 1.0 {1.0) 0.5 {0.6)
Rateofsalaryincreases  afa  n/a 0z {03
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
by one year by one year by one year by one year
$m sm Sm Sm
Assumed life expectancy at age 65 1.2 n/a 0.3 {0.3)
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24 it=zase amrangorants

Right of use asset Total at 31
In US Smillion Property Non-property December 2022
Cost

As gt L8 January 2022 - - -
Acquisitions {note 5) 174.1 3.6 177.7
Additions 4.9 0.5 5.4
Disposals {0.5) (0.5)
Revaluation 4.8 c.2 5.0
Exchange movements (3.6) (3.6)
As at 31 December 2022 179.7 4.3 134.0

Accumulated Depreciation
As at 18 January 2022 - - -

Charge for the period 17.6 1.2 18.8
Disposals {0.5) - (0.5}
Exchange movements (0.1} (0.1}
As at 31 December 2022 17.0 1.2 18.2

Net book value

As at 31 December 2022 162.7 3.1 165.8
Lease Liabilities Total at 31
In US Smiilien December 2022
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions {note 5) 168.3
Additions 11.3
Interast 5.8
Payment (19.4)
Disposals (2.5)
Exchange movements (3.2)
As at 31 December 2022 160.3

Total
Lease Liabilities Within 1 year 2 -5 years 5+ years Us Smillion
Property 27.G¢ 75.4 54.7 157.1
Non-property 1.6 1.6 3.2
31 December 2022 28.6 77.0 54.7 160.3

Interest expense on the lease liabilities recognized within finance costs was US $5.8 million. As at 31 December 2022, there
were no leases which the Group was committed to with future cash flows which have nct been accounted for. The Group
also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The total expense
recognized for these leases was US 50.3 million. The Group halds no variable leases.

The Group subleases vacant space available within its leased and owned properties. IFRS 16 specifies conditions whereby a
sublease is classed as an operating lease for the sub-lessor. The operating lease income recognized was US $0.6 million.
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25, Uncompieteo performance opligations

The table below represents uncompleted performance obligations at the end of the reporting period. This is total revenue
which is contractually due to the Group, subject to the pesformance of the obligations of the Group related to these
revenues,

US Smillion

Total contracted revenue at 31 December 2022 48.5

The total contracted revenue with customers as at 31 December 2022 with local currency amounts converted at the
applicabie spot rate for US dollars on 31 December 2022 held constant is below.

Contracted revenue calculation split between current and non-current assumes: (i} no changes in service fees, {ii) no changes
to the performance obligations in the master service agreements {“MSAs”) otherwise described eisewhere in these financial

statements, [iii) customers dc not utilize any cancellation allowances set forth in their MSAs and {iv) customers do not
terminate MSAs early for any reason.
Current Non-current
S U US $million  __ US Smillion
Total contracted revenue at 31 December 2322 35.2 13.3
25, Share capita and reserves
Share capital
T 2022 Total
ype Nominal value Issued number uss
Ordinary shares 0.0001 4,014,584,712 401,458
As at 31 December 4,014,584,712 401,458
5000
Authorized, issued and fully paid, at 31 December 2022 401

4,014,584,712 Ordinary shares were issued dunng 2022 at US $1.00 inclusive share premium. The total share premium for
the sharesissued in the period was US $4,013.2 million.

During the period $48.2 million of ordinary shares were issued in consideration of Element Materials Technology Group
Limited acquisition {note 5).

Share premium
The share premium reserve contains the premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of issue expenses.
Share based payment reserve

EM Topco, holding company of the Group, has issued 3,394,560 B1 and 1,368,900 B2 Ordinary shares to certain employees
and Directors, Pursuant to the terms set out in the Articles of Association the pay-out for these shares are based on a
calculation dependent on the enterprise exit value of the Group and are subject to meeting certain hurdle rates. The holders
of these shares have an cption to request the pay out after 5, 6 or 7 years of vesting service period.

The Group scheme is treated as equity-settled share-based payments. The share base payment charge is measured at

inception at the fair value by applying an option pricing model. The expense recognized for employees’ services during the
period is $1.9 million.
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27 Nar-cortrelbaginterests
The Group holds equity interests of less than 51% in the following companies where it exercises cantrol:

% shareholding

Flement Doha il C 24.5%
Al Futtaim Elements Material Technology Dubai LLC 49.0%
Exova Warringtonfire Middle East LLC 49.0%
Element {(Saudi Arabia) Company Limited 50.0%
Warringtonfire Doha 49.0%

During the period ended 31 December 2022 Element Doha LLC US approved and paid US $0.9 million of dividends to its nan-
contrelling interest.

The Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the equity interests and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the equity interests. Based on this, the Directors have determined that the Group
has control over these equity interests and therefore conselidates them within the financial statements.

The Group has interests in joint venture arrangements in the following companies:

Principal place of Group
Name business or ownership and Held by
registration voting interest
BM Trada RKCA Certifications Private Limited India 50% BM TRADA Overseas Limited
FIRA — CMA Testing Services Limited Hong Keng 50% BM TRADA Overseas Limited
8M TRADA RKCA Lanka Certifications {Private) . BM TRADA RKCA Certification
o Sri Lanka 50% i _
Limited Private Limited
Tianjin C—Ka-u BM TRADA Certification china 40% BM TRADA Certlf\-ca-tlon
Company Limited Limited

28, Events aftar tha reporting date

Between the end of the financial pericd and the date of this report, no items, transaction or event of a material nature has
occurred, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, that is likely to significantly affect the operations of the Group, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

As at the date of signing these accounts the undrawn facility available to the Group has reduced to US 547.1 million as a
result of a further drawdown of US $192.9 million from the capex / acquisiticn facilities, out of which US $53.0 million was
used for the acquisition of NCT Co., Ltd. {May 2023) and CTK Co., Ltd. {July 2023}, testing companies based in South Korea.
Initial accounting for these business combinations have not been completed at the time of authorization of these financial
statements.

28, Raoovted party tracsaction

vd]

Transactions between the entities within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Remuneration to key management personnel is disclosed in note 7. The key management personnel are directors and non-
executive directors of the Company. The remuneration of non-executive directors comprises feas for services, and benefits
primarily related to their directorships. Other than those disclosed in note 7, no loans, advances or guarantees have been
provided on behalf of any Director.
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30. Commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group sighed a Senior Facilities Agreement, with the institutional fenders in order to secure the credit facilities. The SFA
names specific entities of the Group that may borrow under the various facilities of the agreement. in addition, all borrowings
under the SFA are subject to security over material subsidiaries across the Group, subject to certain exclusions. Material
subsidiaries of the Group, as defined by the SFA, are the guarantors to any borrowings. Security will only be enforceable on
the occurrence of an Event of Default as defined hy the SFA

At 31 December 2022, the Group has a US $22.9 miilion, letter of credit outstanding.

The Group is involved in a number of claims and an investigaticn in relation to advisory services, in the Built Environment
end-market, provided in the ordinary course of its business. The Company provided for its best estimate of amounts expected
to be paid that can be measured reliably (note 19). Itis not possible, at this time, to measure reliably other possible outflows
arising from these claims, nor can the timing of possible outflows be determined, as the Company is not yet in receipt of all
the relevant information for these matters. Therefore, the Company has contingent habilities, in respect of these matters
and outflows of cash are possible. The Company and the Directors expect that insurance cover in place will mitigate any
potential impact of cash outflow in relation to seme of these matters.

Capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2022 is US $15.1 million.

31. Subsidiaries and associated companies

The Group’s and Company’s subsidiaries are listed below. All of these subsidiary undertakings are controlled by EM Midco2
Limited and were consolidated at 31 December 2022 in the Group accounts.

Nam.e ) . Country of !ncor!mratlon or Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
1269 0 Street, Wilmington DE
Agrius Group, LLC United States 100% Testing range stree Aming 10;801
Holdin 1209 0 Street, Wilmington DE
Analyticat Lab Group, LLC United States 100% olamng range Street, Wilmington
Company 19801
BM TRADA Certification ) 5 . 820 Bear Tavern Road, Mercer County,
North America Inc. United States 100% Testing Waest Trenton NJ 08628
780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100,
N a,
Cascade Meathods, tiLC United States 100% Dormant Salem OR 97301
. 2479 Woodview Lane, Ann Arfzor MI
Chemvent, LLC United States 100% Testing
48108
. 7700 E. Arapahoe Road, Suite 220,
. ) o
Clinimark, LLC United States 100% Testing Centennial, CO 80112
40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, Pl
) ) o . s '
CRL-B, LLC United States 100% Testing ymouth M 43170
e 601 SW Second Ave Ste 2100, Portland
CS USA Corpoaration United States 100% Certification
OR 97204
Element Materials -
. 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Aerospace US United States 100% Testing g g 10801
LLC
Element Materials Testing and
Technology Ann Arbor LLC United States 100% inspection 4840 Venture Drive, Ann Arbor M1 48108
{formerly Avomeen, LLC) operations
Element Materials
. 155 Federa! Street, Suite 700, Boston MA
Technology Boston-Actan United States 100% Testing

Inc.

02110
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Name Country of incorporaticn ar  Propartion - .
Continuing businesses registration Heid Activity  Registered Address
Element Materials Testing and .
Technology Broken Arrow, United States 100% inspection 1833 South Morgan Road, Oklahoma City
. 0K 73128
LLC operations
Element Materials . . 150 West Market Street, Suite 800napolis
£ < 100% ) '
Technology Chicago LLC United State an% Testing IN 46204
. Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ;Ssllgc:gn 4400 Easton Commaons Way, Suite 125,
Technology Cincinnati Inc. ? pec Columbus OH 43219
operations
Element Materials 4400 Easton C Way. Suite 125
Technolegy Cleveland - United States 100% Testing aston ommcorlls ba\’, OL:-: :3219‘
Middleburg Heights Inc. Qlumius
Elerment Materials United States 100% Testing :”d 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
Technofogy Cleveland Inc. ) Inspection NC 27615
operations
. Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% f:slr;gcta_gn 19111 Dallas Parkway Suite 320, Dallas TX
Technelogy Dallas Inc. ¢ P ,' 75287
operations
. Testi
Element Materials United States 100% ie;:”;gc:izg 40600 Ann Arbour Road, East Suite 201,
Technology Detroit LLC ) P . Plymouth MI 48170
operations
Element Materials , e 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
o ’
Technology Food US LLC United States 100% Certification 19801
Elernent Materials United States 100% Tgstmg:a.nd 150 West Market Street, Suite 800napolis
Technalogy Fort Wayne LLC i tnspection IN 46204
operations
Element Materials Holdi 12090 Street. Wilmi DE
Technology Group US United States 100% olding range street, Wilmingten
Haldings Inc. Company 19801
Element Materials . ) One Constituticn Plaza, Hartford CT
United Stat 9 !
Technolegy Hartford Inc. nited States 106% Testing 06103-1919
Eiement Materials . Holding 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington
. United States 100% ! !
Technology Holding USA Inc. ¢ Company County New Castle DE 19801
. Testing and .
Element Materials . , . 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
5 ) 2
Technology Houston LLC United States 100% mspec_tlon NC 27615
operations
Element Materials Testing and
, Mi . .
Technology Huntington United States 100% inspection 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite ZOS'CR;;‘:?:
Beach LLC operations
’ Testi
Element Materials United States 100% ;S:r;gcté‘iz: 1200 South Pine Island Road, Plantation
Technology Jupiter LLT ’ P . Fl.33324
operations
. Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ﬁfs";gczzn 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton Rouge LA
Technology Lafayette, LLC ¢ P : 70816
operations
Element Materials : e s 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
United Stat 9 ’
Technology Life Sciences LLC nited States 100% Certification 19801
Element Materials United States 160% Tﬁ;'”j{;g: 330 N Brand Blvd., Glendale CA 91203-
Technology Los Angeles LLC ? pect 2336
operations
Element Materials X ) 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
o United Stat 0% T ! !
Technology Milpitas Inc. nited States 100% esting 19808
Element Materials Testing and -
Technology Minneapolis - United States 100% inspection 1209 Orange Street, Wllmmgtfgnggi
Eagan Inc. operations
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion . "
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
Element Materials United States Loo Tf:'li:gz 1010 Dale Street North, Saint Paul MN
Technolagy Minneapolis Inc. ’ insp A 55117
operations
Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ie:sw;gc:i:m 1010 Dale Street North, Saint Paul MN
Technology Minneapolis LLC ¢ P . 55117
operations
Testi
Element Materials United States 100% ;S;ri;g: 301 S Bedfaord Street, Suite 1, Madison Wi
Technology New Berlin Inc. ° P . 53703
operations
Element Materials Testing and . .
Technology Oakland - United States 100% inspection 1285 Corporate Center Drive, Suite 110,
. Eagan MN 55121
Concord inc. operations
Flement Materials i s 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Pharma US LLC United States LUl Certification 19801
Element Materials Testing and A .
Technology Portland - United States 100% inspection 780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100,
. Salem OR 97301
Evergreen Inc. operations
Element Materials United States 100% Tiensstllgc;zg 780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100,
Technology Portland Inc. ¢ P . Salem OR 9730%1
operations
Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ie:s":egctaizn 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
Technology St. Paul inc. i P . NC 27615
operations
Element Materials
12090 Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Transportation United States 100% Testing range Strest, Wimington
US LLE 13801
Element Materials
Technolagy Washington DC . o . 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
LLC {previously called PCTEST United States 100% Testing 19801
Engineering Laboratory, LLC)
Element Materials . 0 . 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Wilmington Inc. United States 100% Testing 19801
Element Materials . . Testing and 306 West Main Street, Suite 512,
% ) R
Technology Wixam Inc. United States 100% inspection Frankfort KY 40601
EM Midco 2 US LLC United States 100% Helding 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmingtonr, DE
EMT Finance Inc. United States 100% Holding 1209 Qrange 5treet, Wilmington DE
Company 19801
Energy Assurance LLC United States 100% Testing 289 South Culver Street, Lawrenceville GA
30046
ETCR, Inc. United States 100% Testing 251 Little Fails Drive, Wilmington, DE
19808
Exova (US) Holdings Inc. United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Company 19801
Exova, Inc. United States 100% Testing 1209 Orange Streat, Wilmington DE
19801
780 Cemmercial Street SE, Suite 100
. o , s
Front Range Methods, LLC United States 100% Dormant Salern OR 97301
. Holding 1209 Orange Street
H [a?
Greenrock Finance, Inc. United States 100% Company Wilmington DE 19801
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion - .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
Hercuiean US Holdings, Inc. United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Campany 19801
Impact Analytical, Inc. United States 100% Testing 1940 N Stark Road, Midland M 48641
. . Testing and
J M hiol | t
Is:es icrobiology Institute United States 100% inspection 400 E Court Avenue, Des Moines |A 50309
’ operations
Linbab, LLC United States 100% Dormant 447 Center Street, Manchester CT 06040
. . ' - . 4400 Easton Commeoens Way, Suite 125
wicCloy Engineering, LL Urniited Slal 100% s] ! :
cCloy Engi ing, o rHle dles ] Srmant Columbus OH 43219
. . 4400 Easton Commaons Way, Suite 125
Morel Ventures, LLC United States 100% D t ! .
' ° orman Columbus OH 43219
MRA Acquisition Corp. United States 100% Holding 1208 Orange Street, Wilmingtan DE
Company 19801
Nanascale Combinatorial United States 100% Tiensstlr;gctaigg 3800 North Central Avenue, Suite 460,
Synthesis, inc. ° P . Phoenix AZ 85012
operations
National lity A -
U SIA ImC:lua fty Assurance United States 100% Testing 289 Great Road, Acton MA 01720
MNational Technical Syst L . . 330NB Blvd. ite 7 Gl le CA
: gehnical systems United States 100% Testing rand Blvd., Suite 700, Glendale ¢
LC 51263
NEST Parent. Inc United States 100% Holding 251 Littie Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
, Inc. )
Company 15808
NTS Engineering Services, Inc United States 100% Testing 251 Litthe Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
19808
. . , Holding 2125 East Katella Ave,, Suite 250, Anahei
NTS Hold Inc. % ! '
$ Holding Corporation, Inc United States 100% Company m CA 92806
NTS Labs, LLC United States 100% Testing o0 N Brand Blvd,, Suite 700, Glendale CA
91203
NTS Technical Systems, LLC United States 100% Testing 28 Liberty Street, New York NY 10005
PCAS-Nanosyn, LLC United States 100% Testing 1209 Qrange Street, Wllmmgtg\slgli
PCTEST Heldings Inc United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
’ Company 13801
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Name Country of incorporationar  Proportion . .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
. ) . 2125 East Katella Ave,, Suite 250, Anahei
Preferred Testing Labs Inc. United States 100% Testin, ’ g
g ° "8 m CA 92806
;P,r::‘ncctlrnc Testing Lakorater United States 100% lesting 289 Great Road, Acton MA 01720
. ; 40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, P}
RTC-K % ’ !
C-K, LLC United States 100% Testing ymouth MI 48170
A ! ) 40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, Pl
. o, ) .
Trialon Corporation United States 100% Testing ymouth MI 48170
Trialon Holding Company United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE 1980
Company 1
Unitek Technical Services, fne United States 160% Testing 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
19808
. . . 601 SW Second Ave Ste 2100, Portland
N 10,
Validation Resources, LLC United States 100% Testing OR 97204
Accusense Systems . ) 5 3rd Floor, Davidsen Building, 5
Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Aerotech Inspection & NDT . ) o 3rd Floor, Davidsgn Building, 5
Limited™* United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
I : , 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
* % 0 r -
Agile Five Ltd United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Warwick House Houghton Hall Park, Houg
Ascertiva Limited*~ United Kingdom 100% Dormant  hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
52X
BM TRADA Certification ) i o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, S
Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
3rd Flocr, Davidson Building, 5
. . Y B H 0, ’ g
BM TRADA Group Limited United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
BM TRADA Dverseas . i " Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Limited*** United Kingdom 100% Company Sauthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Catalyst Environmental 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
. . . , .
Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Chiltern House Stocking Lane, Hughenden
CCB Evolution Limited™** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Valley, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire,
HP14 4ND
Certifire Limited** United Kingdem 100% Dormant 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5

Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Namfe ‘ ) Country of fncor{:oratlon or Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
Chiltern International Fire . . o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Limited™** United Kingdom 100% Dormant g uthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Crawlond Sciendilic dloldin Tiuldin Rosewell House, 24 [1F) Harvest Drive,
e & United Kingdom 100% s Newbridge, Midlathian, EH28 3,
Limited Company Scotland
Element Digital Engineering L
imited . y o i 3rd Floar, Bavidson Building, 5
{Previously called Norten United Kingdomn 100% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Straw Consultants Ltd)
Element Materials . . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
United Kingd 100%
Technology (Mexico) Ltd.*** nited Kingdom ° Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
Element Materials United Kingdomn 100% T?:t";g,z;: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Aberdeen Ltd e Brlo ¢ sP c Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials
. . . 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
2,
Ii::lr;glogy Aerospace UK United Kingdom 100% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials Technolog
?P?gjig:sclalf;{:;czsahlmlted United Kingdom 100% T?:.: Ir:agc:g: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
) ¥ ) 8 ’ P . Southampton Street, London, WCZ2E /HA
Analytical Laboratories operations
Limited)
Element Materials . .
. . 3rd Floer, Davidson Building, 5
) ’ " s
T‘ecrmology Cambridge UK United Kingdem 100% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Limited***
Element Materials . -
. i R R Helding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
0,
T‘ecl.'lnoli:)*g*v China Holding United Kingdom 1o0% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
Limited
Element Materials . e
3rd Floor, Davidscon Building, 5
. . . o . ) !
Tech_no'logv Environmental United Kingdem 100% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
LK Limited
Element Materials . . o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology G.C. Ltd** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, Londen, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials .
. . . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidscn Building, 5
Technology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100%
7HA
CC1 Limitad*** Company Scuthampton Street, London, WC2E
Eiement Materials . . S
Technology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100% Coanld;:g Southam 3;: ;l‘::;( D;\::j(s;n &L;Iszm?g;‘:
CC2 Limited*** pany " ’ '
Element Materials
. . . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
0,
Tfacr\nology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Limited***
Element Materials United Kinadom 100% T?::'Zi;g: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Limited *** 8 i P . Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials United Kingdom 100% T?::'Zi;g: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Hitchin Limited ng ° oper:at%ons Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
Element Materials ) . o
: Holding 3rd FHoor, Davidscn Building, 5
; ’ N
Ifdcr\:fiogy Holding UK United Kingdom 100% Company  Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials Technolog
y Laboratory Instrumentation . . a R 4rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
UK Limited [Previously called United Kingdom 100% Certification Southampton Street, Lendon, WC2E 7HA
Anatune Limited)
Elfn;ent tMat;rlla!ilT:cTE\ng Rosewell House, 2A (1F) Harvest Drive,
:'ni:edo(r?o?r;verlc\’; L(J:rI:W:ord : United Kingdom 100% Testing Newbridge, Midlothian, EH28 8Q,
Scotland
Scientific Limited)
Element Materiais Technolog Testing and
y Life Sciences EMEAA Limite United Kinadom 100% ins egction 3rd Floor, Bavidson Building, 5
d (formerly Arch Sciences 8 N P . Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Group Limited)*** aperations
Element Materials . . .
) . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
%
I;:TLZZI'?H sroue United Kingdom 1a0% Company Sauthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials ! .
) 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
. ) . .
I;:ggglogy Qil & Gas UK United Kingdom 100% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
Element Materials ’ -
3rd Floor, Davidson Building, S
. ) . o E R
I;:HZZISEE Shared Services United Kingdem 100% Non-Trading Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials United Kingdom 100% T;s::rmegc':zi 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Sheffield Ltd 8 ¢ P , Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials United Kingdorm 100% T;E::Iriegc:zﬁ 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Warwick Ltd ttec King ° P : Scuthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials . .
. 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
i q,
'[lc-_;;rlr;glogy Wedneshury United Kingdom 100% Testing Southampton Street, Loncon, WC2F 7HA
1mi
X ) . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
: nk 0,
EM Bidco Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampten Street, London, WC2E 7HA
3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
. . P f . o, ! ’
EMC Projects Limited United Kingdem 100% Dormant Southamptan Street, London, WC2E THA
) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
i i I EE 20 i 0,
EMT 2 Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Straet, London, WC2E THA
) . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
1 H T KA 0,
EMT Finance 1 Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
. o . . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
LR L 0,
EMT Finance 2 Limited United Kingdom 100% Company southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
: Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
i Hexx i i %
EMT FX EUR Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
EMT FX GBP Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant ' urcing.

Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Name
Continuing businesses

Country of incorporation or

registration

Proportion
Held

Activity

Registered Addrass

EMT FX USD Limited**

EMT Holdings Limited™**

Envirodat Limited ** *

Environmental Evaluation
Limited**

Exova {UK) Limited

Exova 2014 Limited***

Exova Group {UK) Limited***

Exova Group Limited***

Exova Treasury Limited***

FIRA International Limited

Firas Limited**

Friiscan Limited™***

Greenrock Bidco Limited***

Greenrock Mideo Limited***

Greenrock Topco Limited™**

IMS Reliance Limited**

insight N.D.T. Limited**

United Kingdam

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdem

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Linited Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Dormant

Holding
Company

Testing and
inspection
operatians

Dormant

Holding
Campany

Testing

Testing

Testing

Non-Trading

Testing

Dormant

Testing and
inspection
operations

Holding
Company

Holding
Company

Holding
Company

Dormant

Dormant

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Flocr, Davidson Building, 5
Southampten Street, London, WEZE 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

Lochend Industrial Estate, Queen Anne
Drive, Newbridge, Midlothian, EH28 8LP

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, Lendon, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Bavidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southamptan Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, Londeon, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA

Warwick House Moughton Hall Park, Houg
hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
5ZX

3rd Floor, Davidsen Buiiding, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7THA
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Forensis L. United Kingdom 0% DO o Strech, London, WCE 1iA
LLP Bideo Limiled® United Kingdom 100% C;:gf;:g Southampfc;:‘ Srl\::é;‘nl’;"r:l;:l;"' \?Vlg:iér;gH;
Ej%t{aergif:f;?aeg;:g United Kingdem 100% Dormant Southamptac:: ;i?g;;,DLZﬂjz?: &lgfér‘?g':'i
MERL Technology Limited** United Kingdom 100% Darmant Southampf;: :i‘r’;’;tDLZ";‘;:;” aLgaszian i
MTS Pendar Limited*** United Kingdom 100% C:r:::i::\g/ Southampfc:g gti:?:;t,DLi\:jZ?': \?Vlglzdénilgl-’i.i
N.D.T. (Holdings} Limited*** United Kingdom 100% C;:Li';s Southamp:’c: ;‘:;’e’trii‘:js;“ vBV“c"szi”i"i
N.D.T. Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant 50uthamp3c:: ;‘;;’;IDLZ‘:‘;Z‘?‘“ \?\."l::”ZdEian:li
National Quality Assurance Li ) : . Warwick House Houghton Hall pafk’ Houg
mited United Kingdom 100% Testing  hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
52X

Warwick House Houghtoen Hall Park, Houg

NQA Certification Limited United Kingdom 100% Certification hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
5ZX

:_-iﬁr"re\‘icteEa:Iai‘lE o safery United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampt-?’orrc: ;S:;lt,DLac:':j:%? \?V“EIZdEmIFgH/S\
A e United Kingdom 00% DA ceet, London, WAt 1A
TRaC Global Limited** tUnited Kingdom 100% Dormant Southamptsgjr: ;::er‘t,cl);\:j(s;? &Lg;jén;,g':':
e Urited Kingdomn 0% DOMAN (o oton Stest, London, WCzE TR
Ii':?e‘?:lgirtiﬁcation United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southamptagg ;‘lr?:;,?;ﬂgz?: \?VuC"ZdEinI'g}:Ii
TRADA Technology Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampta&::: ;‘r’itol_:"r:jz" &“C"zdé";,gé i
U.K. First Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5

Scuthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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g:::ienuing businesses C°“"t"vr‘;;:2:;:!i=::aﬁ°" * Pm::l:ion Activity Registered Address

imtages e united Kingdom 100 DOMMIN (o Streeh, oo, WCAE T
\Ii':ir:rlts::jg*t:n Certification United Kingdomn 100% Dormant Holmesfield Road, Warrington, a;;ihzwgas
Products UK Limitedeet United Kingdom 1006 Comoany  southampton Strech, London, WCAE A
\é\;?'\rtr:zg[tz:(:ci)r:] FE:?:;;Z* United Kingdom 100% Dormant Sot.ltl'uem1pl?0rr(1j SFL?S;;,E)LZ:ZZZTV?VLE??;A;
Contre gmisedee United Kingdom 0% DM Soreeh, London, WAt A
Consutonts Umitage 100% DOMMANL (o Stesh, ondom, WCRE TiA
é\iaorglanfitﬁ?t‘:idrf*ieseamh United Kingdom 100% CoHr:gjairr::s Sc:utl'\ampi:r:j ;l‘:::t,[:i\:(;?;? V'?\ILg;dénT"glili
e e Uniced Kingaorn to0% TeSUNE g ounampton Strech London, WESE 1A
Corteation Lt Uniced Kingdon 100% TeSHNE g nampton Sreet, London, WEAE 1A
Lot e Uniced Kingdom 00% DOMmant (o Crrers, London, WCaE THA
DEFIRE (ACT} PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant unit 2, 409";;:::‘2’:8"3:1'*3";7"5'
DEFIRE (NSW) PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant Unit 2['):::;&:g;"u't"h"\'}fcR;la?dé
DEFIRE {QLD) PTY LTD Australia 100% Cormant unit 26:,?::,2,::TuTho\r}ldCR;la?dé
DEFIRE (WA} PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant Unit 25:::::&:SE“UTh"C?CR;’lafS'
DEFIRE Holdings PTY LTD Australia 100% c:nig:s Unit 25:::;&:g;’uThOC?CR;ffS’
Exova Certifire Pty Ltd Australia 100% Cormant Unit 2, 4097;21\::&:;3?:;13:5'
Warringtonfire Australia Pty Australia 100% Testing Unit 2, 409-411 Hammond Road,

Ltd

Dandencng VIC 3175
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion - .
Activit R tered Add
Continuing businesses registration Held ciivity egistere ress
. Testing and
‘i:}c?:cr:ltoma;irtlj\ir on NV Belgium 100% inspectian Herentalsebaan 406, 2160 Wommelgem
EY e o operations
. . Ottergemsesteenweg-2uid 711 Ghent,
i 00% Test
WFRGent NV Beigium 100% esting Flemish Region 9000
BM TRADA Certification canada 100% Certification 398-2416 Main Street, Vancouver BC VST
Canada In¢ 3E2
Element Materials . 2395 Speakman Drive, Mississauga ON
C d 100% Test
Technology Canada Inc. anada ? esting 15K 183
Praperty 2395 Speakman Drive, Mississauga ON
Exova Property Holdings Inc Canada 100% Helding P ’ LSgK 183
Company
. . 5 . fel,
National Technical Systems C Canada 160% Testing 425 boul. Industriel, Chambly QC J3L4W
anada Inc. 3
Nati | Technical t
Lr\?’ltfl:i echnical Systems S Canada 100% Testing
Element Materials o Holding PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Technology ME Limited Cayman Islands 100% Company Cayman, KY1-1104
) S PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
2,
Warringtonfire Limited Cayman Islands 100% Dormant Cayman, K¥1-1104
Element Materials Testing and .
Floor Iding No. 7, No. 398
Technology {Shanghat} Co., China 100% inspection Sonavin lth;:)ac?oQ’i:u'ulDigstrict :jhan hai
Ltd. operations gying » Hingp ! £
: MNo. 39 Qiming Road, Shengpu Town,
‘lIE'Lecr;::gltoMaFSeL:fr:Sou) co. Ltd China 1300% Testing Suzhou Industrial Park, Suzhou, Jiangsu
8Y R Province
. B818, Languang Technolegy Park, No. 7
gfcr::E;toMa;:Zi]zshen Ltd China 100% Testing Xinxi Road, High-tech industrial Park,
BY MNanshan, Shenzhen, 518000
Element Matech Room 1719, 17F, C1, TEDA MSD, No.79
xfifcigegi:?]j,i:;zznoifgv China 100% Testing First Aveniue, TEDA, Ttanjin, 300457
’ I Pud
Shanghai NQA Certification C China s0% Certification Room 1, 5/F, No 985 Dongfang Road, Pu !
o., Ltd. ong New Zone, Shanghai
Tianjin C-Kai BM TRADA Room 708, Suite F Hai Tai Plaza, No.8 Hua
Certification Company China 40% Certification Tian Road, Tianjin , Hua Yuan Industriai
Limited™ Zone
iecrr':r‘fgltoz'va;‘;rs‘gfs o Czech Republic 100% Testing Podnikatelska 1184/39, Plzen, 301 00
Eiement Metech s.r.o. Czech Republic 100% Testing Touiimska 767, Letfiany, Praha 9, 19900
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Nam.e ) ) Country of !ncorl‘noratlon or Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Centinuing businesses registration Held
. £l tation, , DK-7470, j j
Element Metech A/S Denmark 100% Testing yvestation, Karup, DK-7470, Herningvaj
30, Karup
Element Metech Oy Finiand 100% Testing Kuormakuja, Nummela, 03100

3 Avenue André Marie Ampére, Zone
France 100% Testing  d'Activité Commerciale du Perget, 31770,
Colomiers

Element Materials
Technology France SAS

3 Avenue André Marie Ampére, Zone
Element Materials

Techaoloay Toulause SAS France 100% Testing  dActivité Commerciale du Perget, 31770,

&Y Colomiers

it’c'::;ro';"va;::f(imb“ Germany 100% Testing Carl-Zeiss-Strafe 17, 73431, Aalen
) Testing and

iler;enlt Ma;enﬁlsG bH Germany 100% inspection Friedrich-Wohler-5tr. 1, 12489, Berlin
echnology Berlin Gm operations

Element Materials o Tfesrmg gnd .

Technology Hamburg GmiH Germany 100% inspection Tempowerking 11, 21079, Hamburg
operations
Element Materials Testing and

Technology Holding Germany Germany 100% inspection Tempowerkring 11, D-21079, Hamburg
GmbH operations
ti d

Element Materials German 100% Tﬁwssllgc:‘izn Gustav-Hertz-Strasse. 35, 94315,

Technology Straubing GmbH ¥ ° pec Straubing, Bavaria
operations

Hans-Bockler, Ring 9, D-22851,

o .
Element Metech GmbH Germany 100% Testing Narderstedt
g[r)nkbﬁahbrlerdlenst Kopp Germany 100% Certification In den Ziegelwiesen 25, 69168 , Wieslach
NTS Europe GmbH Germany 100% Testing

Industriepark, Hochst, Geb. €369, am
Main, 65926 Frankfurt

Warringtonfire Frankfurt

GmbH Germany 100% Testing

Warringtonfire Holdings Holding Industriepark, Hochst, 65926, Geb. C369,

GmbH Germany loo% Company Frankfurt
oos ey 100 o3 Ty cou
Certifire (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kang 100% C:nfl:zj:i Unit C, 18/F I:?;jfﬁmcfﬁ:t;z’nzg}:owilz
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion Activit Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held v 8
Warrmgtonflre Certification o Unit C, 18/F infotech Centre, 21 Hung To
and Inspection Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Dormant
Limited Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon
Warringtonfire Hong Kong . . Unit ¢, 18/1 Intotech Centre, 21 Hung Tu
Limited Hong kong 100% Testing Road, Kwun Tong, Kowlocn
gznrt-i:‘?c‘:?igr?skg:vate India 50% Certification 515 Tulsiani Chambers, Nariman Point,
Limited~ : ¢ Mumbai, 400021, India
Metallurgical Services Private . N . Mehta House, Ashak Silk Mills Lane,
Limited India 100% Testing Khatkopar {(West), Mumbai, 40085
NQA Certification Private Lim . o . No 5, 15/1, 8TH Main Road, RPC Layout, B
ited India 100% Testing engalury, Karnataka, 560040
Eiement Materiais o R Unit D8, North City Business Park, North
Technolegy Ireland Limited freland 100% Testing Road, Finglas, Dublin 11, D11Y267
Element Materials Technolog
y Laboratory Solutions (relan " ) Unit F12, Maynooth Business Campus,
d Limited (formerly Apex treland 100% Testing Maynooth, Co. Kiidare, WR23R1H2
Scientific Limited)
warringtonfire Consulting " ) Unit D8, North City Business Park, North
Ireland Limited Ireland 100% Testing Road, Finglas, Dublin 11, D11 Y267
C.T.R S.R.L Italy 100% Testing Via Visco 7/A, 35018, Limena {PD)
Efcfsgfozat&i;ffs y Italy 100% Testing Via della Pierina 9/11, 26013, Crema
Element Kamisu Japan Testing and
{farmerty PCTEST Japan Co., Japan 100% inspection 1797-8 Ohata, Kamisu-shi, Ibaraki-ken
Ltd.} operations
2nd Floor, international House, 41 The Pa
. S o ) ,
Stockbridge 2022 Limited Jersey 100% Testing rade, St Helier, JE2 3QQ
Element Materials Technolog
¥ Suwon. Ltd. R , 13, Heungdeok 1-ro, Giheung-gu, Yongin-
100% Testin . .
{formerly PCTEST Korea Co., Republic of Korea 0% ng si, Gyeonggi-do
Lrd.)
El;msecrj\t C;:;tructlon Testing Suite 2, 1st Floor, 21-
((for)me:;\.,v ADMATERIALS Malaysia 100% Testing 1, Jalan Giam, Taman Majidee, 80250 Joh
or Bahru, Johor
TECHNOLOGIES SDN. BHD.)
Suite 13.03, 13th Floor, Menara Tan &
Exova {Malaysia} Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100% Testing Tan, 207 lalan Tun Razak, 50400 Kuala
Lumpur
Element Materials Carretera Monterrey-Saltillo 3279 B,
Technology Monterrey, S, DE Mexice 100% Testing  Privada de Santa Catarina, Santa Catarina,
R.L.BEC.V. Nuevo Leon, C.P. 66367
Element Materials Holdin
Technology Holding Netherlands 100% Compans Zekeringstraat 33, 1014 BV, Amsterdam

Netherlands B.V.
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion L. .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
. Testing and
| t M |
Element Materials Netherlands 100% inspection Sevillaweg 46, 3047 AL, Rotterdam
Technology Rotterdam B.V. )
operations
Herculean Testing Group B.V. Netherlands 100% Holding Herikerbergweg 238, Luna Aren4, 1161
Company CM, Amsterdam
Testing and , .
Exova Metech AS Norway 100% inspection Bygning 3, Fabrikkvegen 11, Rau;g;:;
operations
Element Materials N ) Muscat Governorate/Bawshar/Ghala, PO
» .
Technology ME Limited LLC* Oman 70% Testing Box 3552, PC 112
) Street 46, Gate 16, Salwa Industrial Area
* " 2 s ,
Element Doha LLC Qatar 24.50% Testing P.O. Box 23650
Warringtonfire Doha* Qatar 49% Testing P.O. Box 24863, Doha
El t Saudi Arabi
emen alu .I ri " Saudi Arabia 50% Testing  Dammam, 2nd Industrial City, Road 76-27
Cornpany Limited
ELEMENT CONSTRUCTION TE
STING (S) PTE. LTD. . o ) 58 Sungei Kadut Loop, Prospag Industrial
(formerly Admaterials singapore 100% Testing Building, Singapore, 729501
Technologies Pte. Ltd.)
ELEMENT GEOLAB (S) PTE. LT
D. . N ) 15 Kaki Bukit Road 4, #01-
{formerly GEQ LAB (5) PTE. Singapore 100% Testing 42, Bartley Biz Centre, 417808
LTD.}
ELEMENT GEOTECHNICAL TE . . . .
t
STING (S} PTE. LTD. Singapore 100% Testing 21> Kaki Bukit Avenue 1, Sh:’:a';'k'”fiuéozg
{formerly FOSTA PTE. LTD.} i
El M ial
Teecnl:rfglto a;?:aasore Pte Singagore 100% Testin 106 Tuas South Avenue 2, West Point
Loy OBy Sinaap ' &ap ° 8 Bizhub, 637158
ELEMENT TESTING SERVICES
{S} PTE. LTD. . o .
{Previously called Singapare Singapore 100% Testing 249 Jalan Boon Lay, 619523
Test Services Private Limited)
Warringtonfire Singapare . o i 9 Raffies Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza,
Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100% Testing singapore, 048619
Element Materials Unit D2 and D5, 9 Quantum Road,
Technology South Africa South Africa 89.55% Testing Firgrove Business PA, Somerset West,
Proprietary Limited™ Western Cape, 7130
Element Materials . " ) Wilburg v Orville Wright 1, Aeropolis,
Technology Seville S.L.U. Spain 100% Testing Seville, 41309, La Rinconada
BM TRADA RKCA Lanka
Certifications (Private) Sri Lanka 100% Certification No. 1041-2/1 Maradana Road, Borella,
Limited~ Columbo 8
CSM NDT Certification AB* Sweden 80% Testing Artilleriplan 4 691, 50, Karlskoga
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Name Country ot incorporation or  Proportion

Activit i
Continuing businesses registration Held ivity  Registered Address

Element Materials

Technology AB Sweden 100% Testing Box 1340, 581 13, Linkoping

Element Materials Holdin

Technology Sweden Holdings Sweden 100% 8 Box 1340, 581 13, Linkoping

AB Company

Element Metech AB Sweden 100% Testing Box 1340, 581 13, Linkoping

Al Futtaim Element Materials United Arab Emirates 49% T;a::megc;;: Dubai Investments Park, P.0O. Box 34924,

Technology Dubai L.L.C.* * P ; Dubai
cperations

* These companies are treated as subsidiaries in the results of the Group as ettective contro! over their operations exists, as described
in the shareholder and management services agreements with the related parties.

** For the period ending 31 December 2022, this subsidiary of the Group was entitled to exemption from audit under s480 of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to dormant subsidiary companies.

***for the year ended 31 December 2022, this subsidiary of the Group was exempt from the requirement for audit of individual
financial statements in accordance with section 479A of the Campanies Act 2006, EM Midco2 Limited which provided the relevant
parent company guarantee required under section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 has indirect holdings in this subsidiary
undertaking "

~ These are companies where the Group exercises joint control.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022
US Smillion
Non-current assets
Amounts receivable from Group companies f 862.7
investments in subsidiaries e 3,456.1
1,31R R
Nen-current liabilities
862.7
Amounts payable to other Group companies 8 { )
{862.7)
Net current (liabilities)/assets -
Net assets 3,456.1
Equity
Share capital i 0.4
Share premium i 4,013.2
Retained earnings {557.5)
Total shareholders’ equity 3,456.1

The Company's loss after tax for the period ended 31 December 2022 was US $557.5 million.

The financial statements of EM Midco2 Limited {Company registration number 13856338} were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

H/LC" /e

Ruth Prior
Director
26 September 2023
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Feriod ended 31 December 2022

EM Midco2 Limited

Share Total
Share capital premium Accumulated Loss US $million

As at 18 January 2022 - - -
Total Comprehensive Loss - - (557.5}) (557.5)
issue of shares 0.4 4,013.2 - 4,013.6
As at 31 December 2022 0.4 4,013.2 {557.5} 3,456.1

The notes on the following pages form part of these financial statements.

145



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EM Midco2 Limited

31 ALITLNAG DO
{} Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cast convention in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. As permitted by section
408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate statement cf profit or loss account is presented for the Company.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation to the presentation of a statement of profit or loss, a statement of cash-flow, financial instruments, standards not
yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions. Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the
Group accounts of EMMidco2Limited.

The Company was incorporated on the 18 of January 2022, This is the first period that financiat statements are being
prepared for the Company, and therefore no comparative information is presented.

Going concern

EM Midco2 Limited (“Element”} is the holding company of the Group. The coempany’s future viability is ultimately
dependent on the perfarmance of the wider trading group and group management’s decisions on the flow of capital. The
Directors have carried out a review, including consideration of appropriate forecasts and sensitivities, which indicates that
the company will have adequate resources to continue to trade for the foreseeable future.

A full description of the Group’s business activities, financial position, cash flows, liquidity position, committed facilities
and borrowing pasition, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance, is set out in the
Strategic Report, including the Financial Review, in note 2.3 and in note 22 to the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have & reascnable
expectation that the Company has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. The Company has a net assets position of US $3,456.1 million. The Directars considered the geing concern status
of EM Midco?2 Limited and on the basis that this company is a holding company for the Group’s operating entities, going
concern assumptions and sensitivities discussed in this annual statement (note 2) are applicabie from a standalone
company perspective. On that basis, the Directors are satisfied that the Company is a going cencern for the period from
the date of signing these accounts to 31:* December 2024,

(#] Financa habilities and eguity instruments
Classifcation as debiorequity

Debt and equity instruments are diassified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Refer to note 26.

m

Tty instruments

An eguity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

G Ny 2stments

Investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment. The Company evaluates its investment in subsidiary for
impairment annually and records an impairment foss when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

) Dividenos

Dividend income from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Final dividend distributions are recognized in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’'s shareholders.
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PR
:

(7' Amounts raceivabie from Grouo comrpanias

Amounts receivable from Group companies are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance. The Company applies IFRS 9 to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

{vit Amounts payabla to Group comparies

Amaounts payable lu Gruup companies are recognized mitially at fair value and subseqguently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

bl Drrectors’ and employees’ remuneration

No emoluments were paid directly by the Company; information an the directors’ remuneration can be found in Key
Management Remuneration in note 7 of the Consolidated Group Financial Statements. The Company has no employees.

c) Relatod parties

The Cempany has taken advantage of the exemptions contained within paragraphs 8 (j} and (k) of FRS 101, and has not
disclosed transactions entered into with wholly owned group companies or key management personnel. There were no other
related party transactions in the period.

di Auditor’s remaneration

Fees payable to £rnst & Young LLP for the audit of the Company’s financial statements were borne by other companies
within the Group and disclosed in Note 7 of the Consofidated Group Financial Statements. There were no non-audit
services provided to the Company during the period.

o} investmonts v subsicharos

2022

us $rmillion

investments 4,013.6
impairment {557.5}
As at 31 December i 3,456.1

The investment relates to direct holdings in EM Bidco Limited, Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company are included in note 31.

The impairment is based on the fair value of the business units as per note 12 of the EM Midco2 Consolidated financial
statements. Refer to the note for the sensitivity of assumptions used.

fl Amounts recevable from Group companies

2022

us $million

Element Materials Bidco Ltd 862.7
As at 31 December 2022 862.7

The payable amount relates to intercompany loans that EM Midco2 Limited holds with other Element entities as set out
above. Loans carry a 10% interest rate and are repayable on maturity in 2032,

gy Amounts payablo to Group companias

2022

Us $million

Element Materials Midco 1 Ltd (862.7)
As at 31 December 2022 (862.7)

The payable amount relates to intercompany loans that EM Midco?2 Limited holds with other Element entities as set out
above. Loans carry a 10% interest rate and are repayable on maturity in 2032.
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e Tk

it Share s

Ll

Share capital

Type ) 2022 Totat
Nominal value Issued number uss

Ordinary shares 0.0c01 4,014,584,712 401,458
Asat 31 December S 4,014,584,712 401,458
$'000

Authorized, issued and fully paid, at 31 December 2022 A01

4,014,584,712 Ordinary shares were isstied during 2022 at US $1.00 inclusive share premium. The total share gremium for
the shares issued in the pericd was US $4,013.2 miliion.

During the period $48.2 millicn of ardinary shares were issued in consideration of Element Materials Technology Group
Limited acquisition (note 5).

Share premium

The share premium reserve contains the premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of 1ssue expenses.

i} Events afigr the reportng dats

Ne significant events have occurred after 31 December 2022 other than those disclosed in the consalidated group financial
statements.

rn) Ultimate holding company and controliing party

The immediate parent undertaking is EM Midco 1 Limited, which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. EM Midco?2 Limited
is the smallest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared which includes the company. The ultimate
controlling party of EM Midco2 is Temasek Holdings {Private) Limited, a company incorporated in Singapore.
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